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Highlights

2 November 2005
The WA ERA released the
approved revised access
arrangement for the DBNGP.
—

4 November 2005
DUET held its annual investor
forum and general meeting.
—

24 November 2005
DBP announced the
commencement of planning
for the Stage 5 expansion.
—

16 December 2005
UED senior debt refinancing was
finalised.
—

19 December 2005
DUET declared its interim
distribution for the six months
ending 31 December 2005
of 11.75 cents.
—

21 February 2006
DUET released its interim results
including an announcement of
the completion of the Stage 4A
DBP expansion.
—

12 May 2006
DBP debt refinancing was
completed.
—

23 May 2006
DUET released an update of the
DBP Stage 5 expansion project.
—

20 June 2006
DUET announced its distribution
for the full year to 30 June 2006.
—

6 July 2006
DUET announced its proposed
US$300 million acquisition of a
29% stake in Duquesne Light
Holdings, an electricity utility in
Pittsburgh, USA.
—

11 August 2006
DUET acquired an initial
7.7% shareholding in
Duquesne Light Holdings.
—

30 August 2006
DUET completed its 
restructure and 
triple staple.
—

5 August 2005
Multinet was selected by the
Victorian State Government
to deliver natural gas to the
South Gippsland region.
—

10 August 2005
The ERA approved the AlintaGas
Networks access arrangement.
—

29 August 2005
DUET announced its financial
results for the 12 months to
30 June 2005. Distributions
of 22 cents for the full year were
announced, ahead of the IPO
PDS forecast.
—

26 September 2005
DUET released its annual
report for the period 1 July 2004
to 30 June 2005.
—

19 October 2005
The Victorian ESC released its
final decision on the Electricity
Price Distribution Review (EPDR)
for UED.
—

27 October 2005
DUET announced increased
distribution guidance to 
23.5 cents. 
—

Cover: Dampier Bunbury Pipeline,
compressor station no. 2
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Profile
The DUET Group (DUET)
is a listed investment
fund managed jointly
by AMP Capital Investors
Limited and Macquarie
Bank Limited. DUET
actively manages its
investments in a number 
of energy utility companies.

Strategy
DUET is an active investor.
It invests in diversified energy
utility assets with strong
competitive positions and
where it can achieve a
significant shareholding.
This enables it to be actively
involved in the business by
being able to influence key
strategic, operational and
commercial decisions.

About DUET

Dampier Bunbury Pipeline, 
compressor station no. 2



Key facts about DUET
– Listed on the ASX in August 2004 
– Market capitalisation 

at 30 June 2006 – $1.17 billion
– Number of security holders 

at 30 June 2006 – 15,534
– Total assets at 30 June 2006 – 

$6.3 billion.
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Our focus remains
firmly on regulated
and contracted utilities
with secure revenue
characteristics and
on developing a
robust asset portfolio.

Chairman’s Letter

Dampier Bunbury Pipeline, 
compressor station no. 9



DUET has met its financial,
strategic and distribution
targets
The last 12 months have seen
DUET consolidate its position
following its initial public offering
in August 2004 and the
subsequent acquisition of its
interest in the Dampier to
Bunbury Pipeline (DBP). DUET
has worked closely with our
asset management teams to
deliver the earnings and cash
flow targets and the strategic
objectives set in 2005.

As a result, I am pleased to
advise that DUET announced a
distribution for the six months
ended 30 June 2006 of 
11.75 cents per stapled security,
which was paid in August 2006.
Including the interim distribution
paid in February 2006, DUET’s
distributions for the year ended
30 June 2006 totalled 23.5 cents
per stapled security, up from
22 cents in 2005.

Our focus remains firmly
on regulated and contracted
utilities with secure revenue
characteristics and on
developing a robust asset
portfolio
The energy utility sector is
characterised by assets which
generate strong revenue
streams that can deliver stable
and predictable operating cash
flows. Portfolio diversification
across a number of energy
sources and utility sectors,
regional markets and regulatory
jurisdictions, and hedging of the
fund’s interest rate exposures
further secure the performance
and the flow of distributions to
DUET security holders.

The past year has seen the listing
of a number of energy utility
companies on the Australian
Stock Exchange. We believe that
DUET’s portfolio of blue chip
energy infrastructure assets on
both the east and west coasts,
comprising both electricity and
gas supply assets, with secure
regulated or contracted revenues,
places it in a strong position
relative to these new players. 

AIFRS
I would like to draw your attention
to the effect that the Australian
equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards
(AIFRS) have had on DUET’s
financial result. The major
impacts are a result of the 80-year
duration of the DUET trusts and
DUET’s legal requirement to
distribute all taxable income to
investors. These two factors have
resulted in all accounting profit
being treated as a finance cost for
the year ended 30 June 2006.

On 30 June 2006, DUET changed
its constitution after receipt of a
ruling from the Australian Taxation
Office which will result in
accounting profit in future years
being classified correctly. This
change to the presentation of
accounting profit for 2006 only
has not impacted DUET’s ability
to pay distributions to stapled
security holders.

We expect to secure two
attractive growth prospects 
in 2006/2007
Complementing DUET’s solid
base of existing assets are some
exciting opportunities for
growth. During the past
12 months DUET has assessed
a number of growth and
expansion opportunities. 
Most of these have not met
DUET’s return or portfolio
investment criteria, but two,
detailed below, have been
identified as outstanding growth
options for the fund.

Expansion of the Dampier
Bunbury Pipeline
The Dampier Bunbury Pipeline
Stage 4 expansion is now
approaching completion and
DBP is planning for a
three-phase Stage 5 expansion
of the pipeline over the next
three to four years. DBP is
anticipating significant new
demand for gas transportation
as the Western Australian
economy continues to grow at
rates well ahead of the national
average. The Stage 5 expansion
project will be based exclusively
on long-term contracted
volumes and tariffs from existing
and new shippers. The project is
forecast to generate equity
returns and cash yields that will
be accretive to DUET’s overall
financial performance and to
security holder distributions.

Dear investor
On behalf of my fellow directors
I am pleased to present this
annual report for DUET which
covers the financial year to
30 June 2006. 

DUET Group annual report 2006
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Acquisition of Duquesne Light
Shortly after 30 June 2006,
DUET announced its
participation in a consortium that
is seeking to acquire Duquesne
Light Holdings (Duquesne Light).
Duquesne Light is listed on the
New York Stock Exchange and
is an electricity utility based in
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania in the
north-east of the USA. The
directors and management of
DUET believe that the
transaction will be very positive
for DUET security holders.
In FY2008, the first full year after
acquisition, we estimate the
investment in Duquesne Light
will provide distribution
accretion of at least 1 cent per
DUET stapled security.

The focus on creating security
holder value remains the primary
assessment tool for our project
evaluations. Following regulatory
approval of the transaction,
which is expected in the first 
half of calendar 2007, the
consortium will provide the
balance of the equity funds
required for the A$4.32 billion
(US$3.15 billion) enterprise value
acquisition. DUET is committing
A$411 million (US$300 million) of
equity funding for the investment
and will have a 29% interest in
Duquesne Light on completion.

Restructure and triple staple
In August this year DUET
changed its structure from a dual
to a triple-stapled structure. The
change added DUET Investment
Holdings Limited (DIHL) to the
DUET structure, forming the
DUET Group, and was described
in detail in the information circular
which security holders would
have received in early August
2006. The triple stapling took
effect on 30 August 2006. The
objective of the amendment was
to give DUET greater flexibility in
its capital management and
investment strategy. 

DUET remains committed to
growing value for our security
holders. We will continue to
manage our portfolio of assets
to generate stable, predictable
and growing distributions for
our security holders.

Thank you for your ongoing
support. 

Chairman’s Letter
continued

Yours sincerely
Philip Garling
Chairman 

AMPCI Macquarie
Infrastructure Management 
No. 1 Limited

AMPCI Macquarie
Infrastructure Management 
No. 2 Limited 

DUET Investment Holdings
Limited



The focus on creating
security holder value
remains the primary
assessment tool for
our project evaluations.

6 7



Ka
lgo

orl
ie

Bun
bu

ry
Wors

ley

Le
on

ora

Ju
nd

ee

Gera
ldt

on

Carn
arv

on

Ex
mou

th

New
man

Dam
pie

r

Ya
rra

loo
la

Po
rt H

ed
lan

d

Pe
rth

Ka
lgo

orl
ie-

Bou
lde

r

Bun
bu

ry

Alb
an

y

Pe
rth

Gera
ldt

on

Bus
se

lto
n

DBP Financials for the year ended 30 June 2006

Revenue $223 million

EBITDA $159 million

Contribution to the DUET parent1, 2 $55.5 million

AGN Financials for the year ended 30 June 2006

Revenue $120 million

EBITDA $91 million

Contribution to the DUET parent2 $11.0 million

Our Assets

Dampier Bunbury Pipeline
71.8% interest
DBP operates the only gas transmission pipeline
connecting the natural gas reserves of the
Carnarvon and Browse basins with customers
in Perth and the surrounding regions. These gas
reserves together represent over 80% of Australia’s
total known gas reserves.

Natural gas provides nearly half of Western
Australia’s total primary energy requirements.
DBP provides the backbone of Western Australia’s
energy infrastructure.

DBP has fully contracted the capacity for the
current pipeline expansion project (Stage 4)
and is well advanced in its planning for the next
expansion (Stage 5A, B and C).

AlintaGas Networks
25.9% interest 
AGN is the largest distributor of natural gas in
the fast growing south-west region of Western
Australia.

AGN currently supplies gas to approximately 58%
of Western Australian households.

Approximately 90% of AGN’s mains are under
30 years of age.

Length of pipeline mainline 1,596 km
laterals 258 km

Maximum capacity on acquisition 635 TJ/day
Stage 4 expansion additional 127 TJ/day
Next regulatory reset date Jan 2010

Length of network 12,064 km
Area of network 1,352 sq km
Connections 554,050
30 June 2006 load 32 PJ
Next regulatory reset date Jan 2010
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Multinet Financials for the year ended 30 June 2006

Revenue $172 million

EBITDA $130 million

Contribution to the DUET parent2 $33.6 million

UED Financials for the year ended 30 June 2006

Revenue $412 million

EBITDA $255 million

Contribution to the DUET parent2 $58.2 million

United Energy Distribution
66% interest 
UED’s electricity distribution area is largely urban
giving it a strategic intensity advantage. It covers
around one quarter of Victoria’s population but only
approximately 1% of Victoria’s land area.

UED has achieved a diverse customer base with
consumption relatively evenly spread between its
residential, commercial and industrial customers.

Approximately 65% of UED’s distribution lines are
under 30 years of age — the projected lifespan of
UED’s assets exceeds 40 years.

Multinet Gas Holdings
79.9% interest
Multinet is the largest of the three gas distributors
in Victoria and distributes approximately one third
of Victoria’s annual gas load (by customer numbers).

Gas use in Melbourne households is the highest
in Australia and Multinet provides gas to 95% of
households in its distribution area.

Approximately 60% of Multinet’s mains are under
30 years of age — the projected lifespan of Multinet’s
assets exceeds 50 years.

Length of network 12,530 km
Area of network 1,450 sq km
Connections 609,574
30 June 2006 load 7,823 GWh
Next regulatory reset date Jan 2011

Length of network 9,400 km
Area of network 1,700 sq km
Connections 643,431
30 June 2006 load 59.9 PJ
Next regulatory reset date Jan 2008

Notes

1. Economic interest was

71.8% as at 30 June 2006,

reducing to 60% as calls

are made on partly paid

equity. Results shown for

the holding company in

each asset holding group.

2. Contribution to the DUET

parent includes dividends,

distributions and interest

paid (or accrued).
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Asset mix1

for the year ended 30 June 2006

1. DBP 38%
2. UED 30%
3. Multinet 23%
4. AGN 9%

Energy mix1

for the year ended 30 June 2006

1. Gas transmission 38%
2. Gas distribution 32%
3. Electricity distribution 30%

Geographic mix1

for the year ended 30 June 2006

1. Victoria 53% 
2. Western Australia 47%

3

4

1
2

2

3

1

2

1

Investment Objectives 
and Strategy

Dampier Bunbury Pipeline, 
compressor station no. 9

Note

1. Based on investment values as at 30 June 2006.



These characteristics underpin
the payment of stable and
predictable distributions to
security holders. Although DUET’s
geographic focus is principally
Australia and New Zealand, we
are also actively pursuing
investments in energy utility
assets in other OECD countries,
as can be seen by our
investment in Duquesne Light.

DUET is accumulating a portfolio
of high quality energy utility
assets that are diversified by
geographic region, regulatory
regime, operator and energy
source. DUET seeks significant
shareholdings in those assets
to enable it to influence the key
strategic, operating and
commercial decisions affecting
the investments.

DUET is uniquely placed to
participate in future energy
sector rationalisation and
opportunities by virtue of its: 

–access to the resources and
networks of the AMP Group
and Macquarie Group, including
access to capital, deal origination
and structuring expertise;

–exclusive arrangements with
AMP Capital Holdings (AMPCH)
and the Macquarie Group to
refer new investment
opportunities in energy utility
assets in Australia and 
New Zealand; 

–partnership approach to working
with existing asset owners to
monetise or provide capital for
expansion of their assets; and 

–flexible approach to working
with different operators and
asset owners. DUET is not tied
to a single operator.

DUET targets energy utility
assets which: 

–have established historical
or contracted volume levels; 

–are governed by regulatory
regimes or have long-term
supply agreements; 

–have competitive positions
and sustainable cash flows; and 

–are operated by capable operators
able to manage risks and
improve operating efficiencies. 

DUET invests in energy utility assets
with strong competitive positions
that offer predictable cash flows.
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The Yarra Ranges expansion
will see 150 kilometres of new
pipe pass 6,000 potential
customers. Construction is ahead
of schedule with distribution
mains completed in Yarra Glen,
Wandin and Seville. Another 
seven towns are planned to be
connected between July 2006 
and mid-2008.

The South Gippsland expansion
is in its early phase but will
eventually see 250 kilometres 
of pipeline pass 11,300 potential
customers. The transmission
pipeline route has been finalised
and negotiations are under way
with landowners. Construction 
is expected to commence at
the end of calendar 2006.

Dampier Bunbury Pipeline 
The first new capacity from the
$433 million DBP Stage 4
expansion project was
commissioned in January 2006.
The project is now approaching
completion and remains on time
and on budget. Completion is
scheduled for January 2007 and
additional revenues will be
generated as each increment of
capacity is commissioned. 

This project is fundamental for
the growth of production capacity
in Western Australia and is the 
first major expansion of the
pipeline in over five years.
In addition, it satisfies DUET’s
undertaking to the Western
Australian Government to
expand the pipeline, given
at the time of acquisition.

In May 2006 DBP announced
that its Stage 5 expansion of the
Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas
Pipeline (DBNGP), to meet the
State’s growing energy needs,
should be developed on a staged
basis. Construction of the first
phase – to be known as Stage 5A
– is expected to commence in
early 2007 for the delivery of new
gas in the first half of 2008 to meet
shipper requirements. 

During the year DBP completed
the refinancing of its senior
debt facilities and the capital
expenditure facility for the Stage 4
expansion project, resulting
in annual interest cost savings
of $3 million p.a.

CEO’s Report DUET has a portfolio of first-
class energy infrastructure
assets. The portfolio comprises
investments in premium quality
gas and electricity distribution
and transmission assets in
Victoria and Western Australia,
and will soon include a 29%
stake in Duquesne Light,
a regulated electricity
transmission and distribution
utility in and around Pittsburgh,
USA.

DUET, through the active
management of its interests, 
the day-to-day interaction with
its asset management teams,
and its participation on the
boards of its asset companies,
has overseen a successful year
highlighted by strong financial
performance and a number 
of important milestones.

United Energy Distribution 
UED has performed strongly 
as a result of increased demand
for electricity during the
unusually hot summer of
2005/2006, driven mainly by
domestic air-conditioning loads.

In October 2005, Victoria’s
Essential Services Commission
(ESC) issued its final decision on
the 2006 Electricity Distribution
Price Review (EDPR) for UED.
The commission’s final
determination resulted in
significantly higher tariffs and
revenues than those indicated
in its draft decision. Following
the ESC’s final determination
the tariffs for UED have been set
until January 2011, giving a high
degree of certainty for UED’s
revenues over this period. 

During the year UED refinanced
its existing debt and achieved
a substantially lower margin.
The full benefits of the lower
interest costs will flow into the
2006/2007 year.

Multinet Gas Holdings
Multinet initially experienced
lower than average demand
because of the late start to
winter but performed above
expectations in the last quarter
of 2005/2006 with colder than
average conditions, resulting in
close to budget performance
for the year to June.

Multinet has commenced two
important expansion projects.
In November 2004, Multinet
was awarded the $24 million
Yarra Ranges project and in
August 2005, the $50 million
South Gippsland project. 



Alinta Gas Networks
Continued growth in population
in and around Perth has
underpinned the expansion
of the AGN gas distribution
network. Western Australia
has enjoyed Australia’s highest
growth rates fuelled by rising
resource prices and growth
in demand from China.

In August 2005, new access
arrangements regulating
distribution revenue were
approved and the next reset
date for this access arrangement
is 1 January 2010.

AGN continues to be well
positioned to share in the
benefits of Western Australia’s
future economic growth.

Duquesne Light
On 6 July 2006 a consortium
of investors including DUET
(the consortium) entered into
a merger agreement for the
acquisition of Duquesne Light
Holdings (Duquesne Light),
a publicly listed electricity
utility based in Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania. The transaction
is subject to approval by the
Pennsylvania Public Utility
Commission (PaPUC) and the
Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission (FERC) which
is expected in the first half
of calendar 2007. 

This is an exciting development.
DUET has made an initial
investment of A$145.3 million
(US$109 million) in a placement
by Duquesne Light and will
contribute the remaining equity
at financial close, expected in
third quarter 2006/2007 following
regulatory approval of the
transaction. DUET has a total
commitment to provide A$411
million (US$300million) of 
equity finance, representing
a 29% equity interest in the
consortium. The acquisition 
is consistent with DUET’s
investment mandate objectives.

Duquesne Light provides
essential electricity distribution
and transmission to more than
587,000 customers in and
around Pittsburgh. More than
80% of calendar 2005 EBITDA
of US$261 million was earned
from regulated activities.
Duquesne Light has recently
filed a rate case application
requesting a total distribution

revenue increase of $144 million
p.a. and is proposing to file an
application requesting a
transmission revenue increase 
of $19 million with the US
regulators responsible for setting
the regulated tariffs for these
businesses. The determination
of these rate case applications
will take effect from 7 January
2007.

The transaction will provide
DUET with international portfolio
exposure, with Duquesne Light
making up approximately 32% 
of the fund’s total assets.
Following completion of the
acquisition almost 90% of DUET
earnings will be regulated or
subject to long-term contracts.

DUET will be represented on
the Duquesne Light Holdings
board and will participate on
the Duquesne Light executive
management committee.
In addition, the ownership
consortium will engage
US-based asset managers 
to assist in the management 
of the investment.

Interest rate hedging
DUET’s financial strategy is to
minimise volatility of distributions
caused through interest rate
rises. DUET’s majority-owned
asset company subsidiaries
have all hedged at least 80% 
of their senior debt for the period
to the next regulatory reset.
In addition, in August 2006, 
UED and Multinet hedged their
subordinated debt for the period
to the next regulatory reset.
These hedging policies reduce
the potential impact of interest
rate rises affecting DUET’s
profits and distributions.

Outlook
2006/2007 will be an important
period in the development of
the DUET portfolio, with the
finalisation of the Duquesne
Light acquisition and the
approval of the first phase of the
DBP Stage 5 expansion project
expected during the year.

In March 2007, Multinet will lodge
its gas access arrangement
review submission with the
Victorian ESC and anticipates
publication of a draft decision in
September 2007.

The ESC has retained jurisdiction
over the 2007 regulatory review
for Multinet prior to handover to
the national Australian Energy
Regulator (AER) who will oversee
future regulatory decisions.
We anticipate that the formation
of AER, which will replace a
number of state-based regulatory
bodies, will lead to greater
consistency and predictability
in future regulatory decisions. 

Subject to finalisation of the
required system specifications,
UED expects to commence the
roll-out of interval meters which
will allow electricity consumption
to be recorded in 30 minute
blocks. This will enable retailers 
to introduce new, more flexible
rates and will give customers the
ability to respond to pricing
signals to enable them to reduce
their overall cost of electricity. 

The strong outlook for the
DUET portfolio is reflected in the
projected increase in distributions
for the 2006/2007 year to 24 cents
(minimum) per stapled security.

We will continue to selectively
target opportunities to invest in
quality energy utility assets which
meet our investment criteria and
add value for our security holders.

Peter Barry
CEO
The DUET Group 

DUET Group annual report 2006
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Dampier Bunbury Pipeline Asset description
The DBNGP is the only natural
gas pipeline connecting the
natural gas reserves of the
Carnarvon and Browse basins on
Western Australia’s North West
Shelf with industrial, commercial
and residential customers in 
Perth and the surrounding
regions. The pipeline runs from
the Burrup Peninsula, near
Dampier, to Bunbury in the 
south-west of the state.

The Dampier to Kwinana section
of the pipeline was built by the
State Energy Commission of WA
(SECWA) with the support of
Alcoa, and was commissioned 
in 1984. The extension south 
to Bunbury was commissioned 
in 1985. DUET has a 60%
interest in DBP.

The group of companies which
owns and operates the pipeline
trades under the name of
Dampier Bunbury Pipeline (DBP).
In October 2004, DUET and
consortium partners purchased
DBP, and at 30 June 2006 DUET
held a 71.8% economic interest
in DBP. DUET has a 60% voting
interest in DBP.

Revenue streams
Almost all of DBP’s revenue
comes from gas transportation
tariffs. The tariffs are charged to
wholesale and retail customers
for the shipping of gas along the
pipeline. DBP has entered into
standard long-term contracts 
with the major shippers that use
the pipeline, and under these
contracts approximately 80% 
of the tariff is paid on a capacity
reservation basis (take-or-pay),
with the remaining 20%
depending on the actual
throughput on the pipeline. 

Alcoa, as the foundation shipper,
has an evergreen contract with
tariff agreements that differ from
other shippers.
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Key investment attributes
Predictable revenue
DBP has entered into long-term
contracts with shippers using
the pipeline ensuring stable and
predictable revenues, with tariff
agreements in place until 2019. 

Competitive position
The DBNGP is Western
Australia’s principal gas
transmission pipeline, and the
only pipeline connecting the
North West Shelf with industrial,
commercial and residential
customers in Perth and the
surrounding regions. Natural gas
supplies approximately 48% of
the total primary energy
consumption in Western Australia.

Development and 
growth potential
Natural gas consumption in
Western Australia has increased
by 4% a year over the past 10
years, and there is a major project
currently under way to expand the
pipeline. The additional firm full
haul capacity from the expansion
has already been pre-sold.

2006 performance
In the year ended 30 June 2006, DBP reported revenues of $223 million
and EBITDA of $159 million. Based on its paid-up equity interest for the
period, DBP contributed $56 million to the DUET parent.

Financial summary AGAAP AIFRS
8 months to Year to

$ million 30 June 2005 30 June 2006

Total revenue 179 223

EBITDA 140 159

EBIT 94 122

Net profit after tax1 4 -4

Total assets 2,313 2,697

Net assets2 378 451

Net capex 37 286

Operational overview
Indicator 30 June 2005 30 June 2006

Throughput (full haul) PJs 159 172

Asset utilisation 89% 93%

Notes

1. Net result after tax is shown

before finance changes 

attributable to security

holders for 2006 only.

2. Excluding security holder

interests classified as debt.



Key events
Stage 4 pipeline 
expansion project
Early in 2005, the DBP board
announced a commitment to 
the pipeline’s first expansion 
since 2000. 

The $433 million Stage 4
expansion of the pipeline will
add eight new compressors and
217 kilometres of looping and
will see the average maximum
pipeline capacity (T1 full haul)
increase by approximately
100 TJ/day to approximately
630 TJ/day. 

Construction of the Stage 4
pipeline expansion is now
well progressed, with the
commissioning of five new
compressor units and the
first stage of looping being
completed by 30 June 2006.
Other phases of the project are
proceeding on schedule despite
adverse weather conditions in 
the second and third quarters.
Construction is expected to be
completed on budget and prior 
to the scheduled date of
1 January 2007.

Stage 5 pipeline 
expansion project
DBP has progressed
discussions with a number of
shippers regarding the next
phase of expansion of the
pipeline (Stage 5). DBP expects
to increase the firm, full haul
capacity by over 265 TJ/day
in three phases over the next
three to five years. DBP plans
to seek debt and equity funding
approvals to proceed with the
first stage of the project in
first quarter 2006/2007 and to
commence construction as
soon as approvals are in place.
First gas to shippers from
Stage 5A is planned to be
available progressively from
first quarter 2008.

Dampier Bunbury Pipeline
continued



16 17Access arrangement
DBP has entered into long-term
gas transportation contracts
until at least 2019 with major 
gas shippers on the pipeline.
However, it is still a requirement
under the Western Australian
gas regulatory regime that
proposed access arrangement
revisions are lodged with the
Economic Regulatory Authority
(ERA) for its approval
approximately every five years.
During 2005, DBP prepared
revisions to the original access
arrangement that was approved
in December 2003. ERA released
its further final decision in
December 2005. The decision
accepted the majority of DBP’s
proposed revisions. DBP has
applied for a review of ERA’s
decision to broaden the
contractual gas specification
and to include part haul and
back haul services as reference
services and to set reference
tariffs for these services. The
reference tariffs do not presently
apply to the existing gas
transportation contracts.

DBP debt refinancing
In April 2006, DBP issued
$325 million of guaranteed
floating rate notes to pay down
its syndicated bank debt. In May
2006, DBP refinanced the
balance of the syndicated bank
debt with the $205 million senior
corporate facility. In addition,
DBP refinanced its short-term
debt facilities, namely the
$350 million capital expenditure
facility and the $25 million
working capital facility. Both
transactions achieved the stated
aims of the refinancing, which
included the reduction in interest
costs, the lengthening in the
weighted average tenor of DBP’s
total debt, and the minimisation
of administrative requirements of
the capital expenditure facility.
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Asset description
Multinet is a Victorian gas
distribution company with a
network covering 1,700 square
kilometres of the eastern and
south-east suburbs of
Melbourne. Multinet is currently
expanding its geographic base
through participation in the state
government’s natural gas
extension program. Multinet’s
distribution network transports
gas from the high pressure
transmission network, operated
by GasNet, to residential,
commercial and industrial 
gas users.

Revenue streams
Approximately 86% of Multinet’s
total revenue comes from
distribution tariffs. Distribution
tariffs are charged to customers
for connection to, and use of,
Multinet’s distribution system.
Growth in distribution revenue 
is driven by regulated tariff
charges and volume growth.

Other revenue, approximately
14% of Multinet’s total revenue,
comes from the provision of
regulated services such as
meter reading, mains and
services provision, and meter
data management.

Key investment attributes
Regulated revenue
Multinet’s distribution business
provides predictable, regulated
revenues. The access
arrangements which regulate
distribution tariffs apply for five
years. The next reset date for
Multinet’s access arrangement
is 1 January 2008.

Established commercial
position
Multinet is an established gas
distributor within its service area
and receives revenues for each
energy consumer connected 
to its distribution network,
irrespective of which retailer 
sells the gas to that customer.

Revenue base
Multinet’s top 250 gas users
collectively account for only
around 2% of total distribution
revenue. As a result, the
potential for a negative impact
on revenue from the loss of a
major user is very low.

Multinet
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In the year ended 30 June 2006, Multinet reported revenue of
$172 million and EBITDA of $130 million. During the period, Multinet
contributed $34 million to the DUET parent.

Financial summary AGAAP AIFRS
Year to Year to

$ million 30 June 2005 30 June 2006

Distribution revenue 144 147
Total revenue 159 172
EBITDA 120 130
EBIT 77 85
Net profit after tax 15 23

Total assets 1,191 1,283
Net assets 208 201
Net capex 35 52

The 2005 calendar year was one of the warmest in the last 40 years.
A measure of the weather impact is effective degree days of which
there were 1,167 in 2005, the lowest since these records began,
reflecting high median temperatures. This reduced demand for
gas for residential heating in the September quarter in 2005, which
was partially offset in the June quarter when temperatures were 
below average.

Operational overview Year to Year to
Network connections 30 June 2005 30 June 2006

Tariff V residential 619,946 626,317
Tariff V business 16,955 16,840
Tariff D 255 274
Total 637,156 643,431

Usage – TJ 

Tariff V 44,207 46,111
Tariff D 14,430 13,776
Total 58,637 59,887

Distribution network statistics

Priority emergency response 97% 99%
Number of unplanned outages 
(> five consumers) 32 20
Publicly reported gas leaks 
(per 1,000 consumers) 18 9.9
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Multinet
continued

Key events 
Yarra Ranges extension project 
In November 2004, Multinet was
selected by the Victorian State
Government to deliver natural
gas to nine townships in the
Yarra Valley region. The project
will include the construction 
of new distribution networks,
including 150 kilometres of
supply and distribution mains,
passing 6,000 potential new
customers. Currently a total 
of 1,123 properties have been
connected and are using
natural gas. The project is
ahead of schedule and remains
within budget.

South Gippsland extension
project
In early August 2005, Multinet
tendered for, and won, the
South Gippsland gas extension
project. This project is also 
part of the Victorian State
Government’s natural gas
extension program, and will
bring reticulated gas to five
towns in the South Gippsland
region. The project will involve
further expansion of Multinet’s
network including construction
of approximately 265 kilometres
of transmission, supply and
distribution mains, passing
11,300 houses and businesses.

Multinet is anticipating receipt 
of the permit for the transmission
gas pipeline component in July
with the distribution licence to
follow shortly after. Design has
been completed for three of the
five towns and land acquisition 
is currently progressing on
schedule.

These projects are expected to
promote significant economic
activity within these two
geographic regions. Multinet
currently expects that both
projects will exceed connection
forecasts and that they will be
completed ahead of schedule.

Pipeworks project 
Multinet’s program to upgrade
selected low-pressure pipes 
in the network commenced in
2003 and continued through 
the 2005/2006 financial year.
The program aims to replace
more than 500 kilometres of
existing cast iron and steel pipe
mains with polyethylene pipes
and includes approximately
24,500 customer
connections/renewals. 

The project is scheduled for
completion by 2008 and, for 
the year ended 30 June 2006,
156 kilometres of pipe have
been replaced and work is
proceeding ahead of schedule.
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Natural gas extension projects
Yarra Ranges South Gippsland

Total budget $24 million $50 million
Towns 9 5
City gates 2 3
Transmission pipeline n/a 20 km
Supply mains 30 km 60 km
Distribution mains 120 km 185 km
Properties passed 6,000 11,300

The pipeworks project is a
subset of a longer-term program
to replace all low pressure cast
iron pipe over the next 26 years.
The key drivers of this program
are to reduce asset maintenance,
improve supply reliability, reduce
greenhouse gas emissions and
improve public safety. 

Eastlink project 
In October 2004, the Victorian
State Government awarded the
ConnectEast Group the right 
to design, finance, construct 
and operate the Eastlink toll
road for a concession period
of about 39 years, including 
a construction period of
approximately four years. 
This project required Multinet 
to relocate assets along the path
of the toll road. This work is fully
funded by the ConnectEast
consortium and was completed
on 30 June 2006.



Asset description
UED’s electricity distribution
network covers 1,450 square
kilometres of south-east
Melbourne and the Mornington
Peninsula. The distribution
network transports electricity
from the high voltage
transmission network to
residential, commercial and
industrial electricity users. UED’s
distribution area is largely urban
and, although geographically
small (about 1% of Victoria’s
land), it accounts for around one
quarter of Victoria’s population.

DUET holds a 66% interest 
in UED.

Revenue streams
Approximately 90% of UED’s
total revenue comes from
network tariffs. Network tariffs
are charged for use of UED’s
distribution network and for the
use of the transmission grid. The
tariffs are charged to electricity
retailers, who pass these costs
on to their customers. Growth in
network tariff revenue is driven
by volume growth and regulated
network tariff charges.

Other revenue, approximately
10% of UED’s total revenue,
comes from services which
UED provides to its customers,
such as relocating assets
at the request of our customers,
building new or extending
existing distribution networks,
providing public lighting to local
council areas, and pole rental.

Key investment attributes
Regulated revenue
UED’s distribution business
produces predictable, regulated
revenues. The price determinations
which regulate the majority of
these revenues apply for periods
of five years. 

Established commercial position
UED is an established electricity
distributor within its service area
and receives revenues for each
consumer connected to its
distribution network, irrespective
of which retailer sells the
electricity to that customer.

Diverse consumer base
Energy consumption in UED’s
distribution area is quite evenly
spread across residential,
commercial and industrial users
making UED less vulnerable to
variations in energy use in any
one of these areas.

2006 performance 
In the year ended 30 June 2006,
UED reported a revenue of
$412 million and EBITDA of
$255 million. During the period,
UED contributed $58 million to the
DUET parent. The reduction in
distribution revenue compared
with 2004/2005 reflects the tariff
reduction imposed by the regulator
in its final determination which
took effect from 1 January 2006.
Notwithstanding the lower
regulated revenue base, UED
generated cash flow and earnings
in 2005/2006 similar to the
previous year’s level.

United Energy Distribution
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2006 performance 
Financial summary AGAAP AIFRS

Year to Year to
$ million 30 June 2005 30 June 2006

Distribution revenue 381 367
Total revenue 423 412
EBITDA 260 255
EBIT 185 183
Net profit after tax 23 24
Total assets 1,989 2,066
Net assets 46 75
Total capex 93 101

The 2005 calendar year was one of the warmest in the last 40 years.
There were 1,167 effective degree days in 2005, the lowest since these
records began, reflecting high median temperatures. This reduced
demand for electricity for heating in winter and increased demand for
air-conditioning in summer.

Operational overview Year to Year to
30 June 2005 30 June 2006

Network connections

Small (residential and unmetered) 551,616 554,661
Medium size business 51,751 52,858
Commercial and industrial 1,910 2,055
Total 605,277 609,574

Electricity load – GWh

Small tariff 2,946 2,982
Medium tariff 1,506 1,504
Large tariff 3,115 3,337
Total electricity load 7,566 7,823

Distribution network statistics

Overhead (km) 10,163 10,165
Underground (km) 2,198 2,365
% Underground 18.0 18.9
Maximum demand (MW) 1,572 1,632
SAIFI (Number of interruptions) 0.9 1.14
MAIFI (Number of interruptions) 1.3 1.52
SAIDI (Minutes) 65 76
CAIDI (Minutes) 54 54



Key events
2006 EDPR
In October 2005, Victorian ESC
issued its final decision on the
2006 EDPR for UED. The ESC’s
final determination resulted in
significantly higher tariffs and
revenues than those indicated in
its earlier draft decision. The
draft decision indicated an initial
reduction in revenues of 22.7%.
In the final decision, the ESC
imposed a 14.7% reduction,
and retained the CPI – X
formula at X=2.5%.

The final determination also
set a price for meter services.
The determination provided
for meter services revenue of
approximately $70 million over
the 2006/2010 period. The
overall price reduction when
distribution revenue and
meter services are combined
is CPI – 15.6% in the first year,
followed by adjustments of
CPI – 1.4% for each subsequent
year. UED unsuccessfully
appealed two secondary
aspects of the final decision
relating to the determination
of relevant operating costs
and the calculation of service
incentive payments.

UED’s regulated revenue base
is now set through to January
2011, providing stable revenues
and predictable distributions
to DUET.

Interval metering 
UED has been planning to
implement the installation of
interval meters as per the ESC’s
requirements. This will involve
the replacement of the old style
meters with the new interval
meters on a set timetable
and will require a significant
enhancement of the UED
information systems to process
the increased amount of data. 

The new interval meters will
allow electricity to be recorded
in 30 minute blocks and hence
enable retailers to introduce new
more flexible rates and allow
customers to respond to pricing
signals so as to reduce their
overall cost of electricity.

Recently the Victorian
Government indicated that they
are planning to change the
specification of the new interval
meters to require the use of
two-way (smart) meters. UED
is currently anticipating receipt
of formal advice to change its
plans to adopt these new
meters and has commenced
investigations into the supply
and implementation of the
new equipment.

United Energy Distribution
continued
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the capacity for UED to remotely
read the meters and potentially
to provide customers with
pricing information on a real time
basis, enabling innovative
pricing schemes to reduce peak
power consumption and costs.
Other benefits of smart meters
can include rapid detection of
outages, enhanced monitoring
of quality of supply, detection
of meter tampering, remote
connection of electricity
services, information on more
suitable electricity pricing plans
and a point in time display of
greenhouse gas emissions.

Should the government proceed
with its plan, commencing in
2008, UED will be progressively
installing more than 630,000
smart meters together with
the necessary infrastructure
and IT systems required to
support them.

Bushfire mitigation
Under Victorian law, UED is
required to prepare a bushfire
mitigation plan each year and
carry out inspections of overhead
electricity lines in bushfire areas
and on private property. The
plans must outline a maintenance
regime to inspect and repair
electricity infrastructure to
minimise the risk of powerlines
starting fires. Accordingly, each
year, UED’s management team
identifies the bushfire mitigation
measures required for UED’s
network infrastructure sites.
Each site is inspected regularly
to determine the maintenance
and mitigation activities to be
undertaken when the bushfire
season begins. The program
aims to achieve a bushfire
mitigation index of zero for 
the duration of the declared
bushfire season.

Operating services agreement
The operating services
agreement with Alinta Asset
Management became due for
renewal on 1 July 2006. However,
due to the delay caused by the
appeal of the ESC decision,
Alinta Asset Management
and UED agreed to delay the
commencement of the
renegotiation. The renegotiation
is currently under way and is
anticipated to be completed
in first half of 2006/2007.  

Debt refinancing
In October 2005, UED issued
$500 million of guaranteed
floating rate notes to refinance its
$320 million US144A guaranteed
notes. The balance was used to
pay down some of its syndicated
bank debt. In December 2005,
UED refinanced the balance of
its syndicated bank debt with a
new syndicate of banks via the
$250 million senior corporate
facility, the $200 million capital
expenditure facility and the $25
million working capital facility. 
The transactions generated a
significant reduction in interest
costs to the company, as well 
as specifically providing greater
flexibility to UED to meet its
growth and regulatory capital
expenditure requirements. 
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Asset description
AGN owns, operates and holds
distribution licences for four gas
distribution systems (GDS) in
Western Australia. These GDS
networks supply natural gas 
to residential, commercial and
industrial customers in
metropolitan Perth, Geraldton,
Bunbury, Busselton and
Kalgoorlie–Boulder and
liquefied petroleum gas (LPG)
to Albany.

AGN’s customers represent
approximately 58% of Western
Australian households and a
range of commercial customers
– all supplied gas through its four
GDS networks. AGN’s networks
include 12,064 kilometres of
underground pipelines covering
an area of approximately 
1,352 square kilometres.

Revenue streams
Most of AGN’s revenue is
derived from the largest of its
networks – the mid-west and
south-west GDS covering
greater metropolitan Perth.
Approximately 95% of AGN’s
total revenue comes from
distribution tariffs. Distribution
tariffs are charged to customers
for connection to, and use of,
AGN’s distribution system.
Growth in distribution revenue
is driven by regulated tariff
charges, changing customer
demand and volume growth
from new connections. Prices
are set within a regulatory
framework as network tariffs
by ERA.

Key investment attributes
Predictable revenue
AGN’s distribution business
provides predictable, regulated
revenues. The new access
arrangements, finalised in
August 2005, regulate
distribution tariffs for its largest
GDS until 31 December 2009.
The next reset date for this
access agreement is 1 January
2010. The distribution licences
for AGN’s GDS are in force
until 2021.

Competitive position
AGN is the largest gas
distributor in Western Australia,
with new connection growth
averaging around 4% p.a. 
over the last 10 years. 

Diverse consumer base
Gas consumption in AGN’s
distribution areas is
predominantly for large industrial
and residential purposes.
Together, these two user groups
account for more than 80% of
total network throughput. 

Favourable economic conditions
AGN’s strong Western Australian
industrial connection base
provides exposure to one of
Australia’s strongest regional
economies. AGN continues
to see significant residential
customer growth as a result 
of the strong economic growth.
AGN is also well positioned to
take advantage of the broader
flow-through benefits from 
the current resources boom.

AlintaGas Networks



26 27Key events
Access arrangement
The mid-west and south-west
GDS is a covered pipeline for the
purposes of the National Gas
Code (NGC). The NGC allows
third parties to negotiate access
to the GDS within an independent
regulatory framework, or access
arrangement. Regulatory
approval for access
arrangement to the mid-west
and south-west GDS is generally
renegotiated every five years.

The current access arrangement
was approved by ERA on
10 August 2005, and covers
the period from 1 January 2005
to 31 December 2009. The next
regulatory reset date is
1 January 2010.

Operating service agreement
The operating service
agreement with Alinta Asset
Management was subject to a
price review six months after
the access arrangement was
finalised. AGN and Alinta Asset
Management have agreed on
the terms of the price review.
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2006 performance
DUET owns 25.9% of Alinta Network Holdings Pty Limited (which
owns 100% of AGN) and equity accounts this stake. In the year ended
30 June 2006, ANH contributed $11 million to the DUET parent. 

Financial summary (update) AGAAP AIFRS
Year to Year to

$ million 30 June 2005 30 June 2006

DUET share of net profit 4.1 5.7
Dividend distribution received 4.7 3.8
Subordinated debt interest 7.3 7.3

Operational overview
Network connections 531,901 554,050
Usage – TJ 31,132 32,339
Priority emergency response 99% 100%
Identified leaks (number per km) 0.26 0.25
Number of unplanned outages 
(> five consumers) 5 9
Publicly reported gas leaks 
(number per 1,000 consumers) 0.75 0.67



DUET recognises that its
infrastructure investments
involve both environmental and
social responsibilities as a result
of essential services provided
by such assets. 

DUET’s environmental
responsibility arises from the
impact (both positive and
negative) on natural resources
by the operations of DUET and
its investments. DUET’s social
responsibility arises from the
impact (both positive and
negative) on the community,
customers, employees and
investors by the operations
of DUET and its investments.
DUET has formalised its
environmental and social
responsibility management
with the adoption of a board
policy which is outlined below.
In general, it is DUET’s policy to
ensure its assets comply with
the regulatory framework and
the minimum standards under
which an asset operates.
DUET’s environmental and
social responsibilities are
managed throughout the
investment process as follows: 

Asset selection 
Environmental and social
responsibilities are reviewed
as part of the acquisition due
diligence process. Where they
exist, regulatory obligations are
viewed as minimum standards
for environmental and social
responsibility management post
acquisition. The policy outlines
key steps to be undertaken
during the due diligence phase,
including engaging an
appropriate environmental
expert consultant to identify
issues and obligations relating
to the asset (where relevant). 

Ongoing asset management 
DUET’s ability to control or
influence the ongoing
environmental and social
responsibility management at
each asset differs, based on
its level of investment and the
regulatory framework that
governs those issues.
Importantly, the regulatory
framework is not controlled by
DUET or its assets. DUET does
exert influence wherever possible
via its board representation.
Regular asset board reporting
enables compliance with
environmental requirements to
be monitored and environmental
and social responsibility issues
to be identified. 

Stakeholder reporting 
In recognition of the importance
of environmental and social
responsibility management, it is
DUET’s policy to report annually
on environmental and social
responsibility management,
including a summary of its
policy and key responsibilities,
current initiatives being taken by
DUET and/or controlled assets,
and a statement on regulatory
compliance during the
reporting period. 

Key environmental and social
responsibility factors 
Following a review of the
specific regulatory requirements
and agreements related to each
asset, DUET has identified its
key environmental and social
responsibility factors as: 

–construction impact
management

–safety of supply 
–reliability of electricity and

gas supply 
–commitment to service 
–management of assets

containing polychlorinated
biphenyls (PCBs) 

–oil and chemical spill response
–electric and magnetic field

management and enquiries 
–noise management 
–recycling and waste

management 
–flora and fauna management 
–occupational health and safety 
–community relations. 

Environmental and social
responsibility-related
initiatives at DUET assets
during FY2006 
Examples of notable
environmental and social
responsibility-related initiatives
undertaken at assets in which
DUET invests during the past
financial year include: 

AlintaGas Networks – 
Western Australia
Public Transport Authority (PTA)
Southern River pipeline 
As part of a project to cross the
Canning River with a DN100 mm
HP gas pipeline, it was
necessary to create a crossing
design that did not affect the
existing footbridge or any new
areas of previously undisturbed
riverbank or the riverbed.
The project included a full
reinstatement of all parts of
the crossing and we have also
undertaken to make a $10,000
contribution to the Swan River
Trust for their general rivers
revegetation program.

Environmental and Social
Responsibility Management
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The expansion and maintenance
of the gas distribution network 
to bring natural gas to new
customers and ensure reliability
of supply to existing ones has
resulted in the need to make 
a number of pipeline crossings
of the Preston River. In order to
achieve the goal of minimising
the impact on the environment
and various local residents, a
consultation process has been
undertaken with interested
parties including local Aboriginal
groups and the Department of
Main Roads. The crossing has
been undertaken by boring
under the river at a location
and depth acceptable to all
the parties. 

In undertaking the maintenance
and expansion of the Western
Australian gas distribution
network, DUET’s contractor
Alinta Asset Management and 
all its subcontractors rigorously
follow the environmental
requirements of current
legislation as it applies to the
works program. Generally this
includes, but is not limited to,
those requirements of the
applicable local shire/council,
the Department of Environment
(DoE), the Department of
Conservation and Land
Management (CALM), the
Roadside Conservation
Committee (RCC), the Utility
Providers Code of Practice
(UPCOP) and all other relevant
government regulations covering
Workplace Health, Safety and
Environment. No excessive
clearing, damage to significant
flora or fauna, creation of
excessive noise or dumping of
waste materials on the works site
may occur without prior approval
by AAM Gas Distribution West
Engineering Services and other
relevant authorities. All work is
to be conducted in accordance
with relevant and applicable
Australian and industry standards.

Contributing to state
development and energy needs 
Although DBNGP is currently
operating near full capacity,
there is demand for greater
natural gas supply from
customers using the pipeline.
To satisfy this demand, Dampier
Bunbury Pipeline is undertaking
an initial $433 million project to
expand the pipeline.

The Stage 4 expansion of
the DBNGP is the largest gas
pipeline expansion project
undertaken in Australia to date
and will necessarily take place
in some of the country’s most

remote locations. This has
required both complex
engineering design and
construction techniques and the
adoption of environmental best
practice standards which aim
to minimise the construction
impact on the environment and
ensure effective rehabilitation.
Importantly, the entire project
has been undertaken with
minimal interruption of supply
to existing customers. 

As the pipeline covers more than
1,700 kilometres, the expansion
project has also created
significant regional development
opportunities for Western
Australia, including the
employment of up to 320
personnel in regional areas 
over a 12-month period.
The expansion of the DBNGP
will support in excess of $3 billion
in major project investment 
in regional Western Australia,
specifically, the state’s
south-west. 

The first compressor was
commissioned in January and
project completion is scheduled
for January 2007.

Despite the large increase to
capacity being delivered by 
the Stage 4 expansion project,
the market is still asking for
more. Accordingly, an additional
expansion is currently 
being planned.

Delivering reliable gas supply 
to new customers
Having won selection by the
Victorian State Government,
Multinet is currently
implementing a project to bring
natural gas to new customers in
the Yarra Ranges and Gippsland.
The new distribution networks
will culminate in over 400
kilometres of new supply and
distribution mains bringing
natural gas to potentially 17,300
households.

Natural gas is a competitively
priced, safe, reliable fuel which
provides instant and controllable
heat for households in cooking,
heating and hot water. Research
has shown that natural gas is a
clear winner in reducing
greenhouse gas emissions in the
residential sector. The emissions
from a ducted space heater are
one third of those produced by
using coal generated electricity. 

The Yarra Ranges extension
project is well under way and
1,060 properties have been
connected so far.

The Gippsland expansion
project is still in the early phases
of planning with permits for the
transmission pipeline component
being sought and land for the
pipeline being acquired.

Advanced interval meter roll-out
UED is actively participating in
the evaluation of the proposed
advance interval meter roll-out
that is designed to reduce peak
demand and consumption,
resulting in an overall reduction
in energy bills and greenhouse
gas emissions. The proposed
program would see every
customer provided with an
interval meter over four years
(starting in 2008) which will
enable them to reduce their
energy bill through more even
spreading of consumption
coupled with the reduction in
overall consumption.

Climate change
UED, Multinet and AGN were
part of a major climate change
study undertaken by the
Australian Greenhouse Office.
The study sought to understand
the impact of climate change
on the weather patterns
experienced by the underlying
business, its implications and
potential strategies that need
to be addressed. The report
‘Climate Change Impacts and
Risk Management’ is available
from the Australian Greenhouse
Office website. Participation
in this study highlights the
ongoing commitment to
environmental management
and a long-term sustainable
business environment.

Environmental and social
responsibility-related
regulatory requirements 
DUET is not aware of any
significant breaches of relevant
environmental and social
responsibility-related regulatory
standards by its assets during
the year ended 30 June 2006. 
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As at 30 June 2006 DUET
consisted of two stapled
registered managed
investment schemes:

–Diversified Utility and Energy
Trust No. 1 (DUET 1); and

–Diversified Utility and Energy
Trust No. 2 (DUET 2).

DUET 1 and DUET 2 were
established on 26 June 2003
as wholesale unit trusts and
were subsequently registered as
managed investment schemes
with ASIC on 16 June 2004.

Each stapled security consisted
of one unit in DUET 1 and one
unit in DUET 2. Units in DUET 1
and DUET 2 are stapled 
together so that one cannot 
be transferred, or otherwise
dealt with, without the other.
Essentially, the stapled securities
are treated as one security.

The responsible entity of
DUET 1 is AMPCI Macquarie
Infrastructure Management
No. 1 Limited (RE1). The
responsible entity of DUET 2 is
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 2 Limited
(RE2). Both responsible entities
are jointly owned (50:50) by AMP
Capital Holdings Limited
(AMPCH) and Macquarie Bank
Limited (Macquarie). AMPCH
also owns 100% of AMP Capital
Investors Limited (AMP Capital),
the responsible entity of the
POWERS Trust. 

On 31 August 2006 DUET
underwent a restructuring,
adding a third stapled entity,
DUET Investment Holdings
Limited (DIHL), to DUET 1 and
DUET 2. Diversified Utility and
Energy Trusts security holders
approved in principle this type
of restructure at last November’s
general meeting. Details of
the restructure were sent to
DUET security holders in an
information circular in early
August 2006.

The purpose of the restructure
is to provide DUET with greater
flexibility in its capital
management and investment
strategy. DUET intends to
continue to hold its equity
interest in Duquesne Light
through DIHL, and DUET may
hold other future non-Australian
investments through DIHL.
RE1 has an agreement to
provide management services
to DIHL. 

DUET Management
and Structure

Multinet Group

RE1 RE2

DUET stapled
security holders

POWERS Trust POWERS 
holders

AMPCI

AGN GroupUED Group DBP Group

66.0% 79.9% 25.9% 71.8%1

Notes

1. Falling to 60% as Alinta and

Alcoa pay up their partly

paid equity.as at 30 June 2006

DUET structure

DUET 1 DUET 2



30 31Assets ownership
and management
DUET’s current assets are:

–66.0% interest in United Energy
Distribution;

–79.9% interest in Multinet Group
Holdings;

–25.9% interest in AlintaGas
Networks;

–71.8%1 interest in the Dampier
Bunbury Pipeline; and

–7.7% of Duquesne Light
Holdings shares.

The balance of the equity in
United Energy Distribution,
Multinet Group Holdings and
AlintaGas Networks is held by
Alinta Limited. In the case of the
Dampier Bunbury Natural Gas
Pipeline, Alinta Limited and
Alcoa of Australia Limited are the
minority interest holders.

The Australian assets are held by
the wholly owned subsidiaries of
United Energy Distribution
Holdings Pty Limited (UED),
Multinet Group Holdings Pty
Limited (MGH), Alinta Network
Holdings Pty Limited (ANH) and
DBNGP Trust, respectively (each
an asset holding company).

Alinta Asset Management
(AAM), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Alinta Limited,
provides operating and
maintenance services to the
assets on a day-to-day basis
under separate operating
services agreements.

Duquesne Light Holdings
(Duquesne Light) is listed on the
New York Stock Exchange and
DUET holds approximately 7.7%
of its shares. This stake was
acquired as part of the proposal,
by a consortium of which DUET
is a participant, to acquire all of
Duquesne Light. Assuming all
approvals and other conditions
are met, transaction completion
is expected in the first half of
calendar 2007 and DUET will
emerge with a 29% indirect
interest in Duquesne Light.

Pacific Indian Energy Services
Pty Limited (PIES), a company
which is jointly owned by UED,
MGH and ANH, provides day-to-
day management services to
UED, MGH and ANH under 
the management services
agreements with each of 
the companies. AMP Capital
provides financial services 
to UED and MGH.

DUET management
The DUET responsible entities
are jointly owned by AMPCH
and Macquarie, giving DUET
access to the combined
infrastructure expertise and
investment management
resources of the Macquarie
Group and AMPCI.

The board of each responsible
entity consists of five directors,
three directors being
independent of AMPCH and
Macquarie (six independent
directors in total), and one
representative of each of
AMPCH and Macquarie
(common to each of the
responsible entities and DIHL).

The DIHL board consists of five
directors, three directors being
independent of AMPCH and
Macquarie and sourced from 
the RE1 and RE2 boards.

The Macquarie Group and the
AMP Capital Group have each
seconded experienced staff with
expert knowledge of, and
experience in, the energy utility
sector to the DUET
management team, and will
supply other resources to the
responsible entities as required.

AMP Capital is the preferred
adviser for debt and debt
advisory work in relation to
certain assets owned by DUET,
and Macquarie and Macquarie
Equity Capital Markets Limited
are the preferred advisers for
acquisitions/divestitures and
additional equity raising,
respectively, in relation to DUET.

Notes

1. Falling to 60% as calls are

made on partly paid equity.

Multinet Group

DUET stapled
security holders

AMPCI

AGN GroupUED Group DBP Group

7.7% 66.0% 79.9% 25.9% 71.8%1

Duquesne 
Light

POWERS 
Trust

POWERS 
holders

as at 31 August 2006

DUET structure

DIHL

RE1 (manager) RE2 (responsible entity)

DUET 1 DUET 2
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Funding
The funding structure of DUET
and the ranking of various
stakeholders in its existing
assets are illustrated in the
diagram below.

The POWERS Trust has lent
funds to DUET 1 and DUET 2
under the First Onlending
Agreements (FOLAs). DUET 1
and DUET 2, in turn, have onlent
these funds to the asset holding
companies under the Second
Onlending Agreements (SOLAs). 

Senior lenders are paid interest
and repaid principal as a first
priority. Subject to payment
obligations and covenants owed
to senior lenders being met,
DUET 1 and DUET 2 receive
distributions from the asset
holding companies via
payments of interest on the
SOLAs and payments of
interest and dividends on equity
securities. In turn, DUET 1 and
DUET 2 meets its payment
obligations to the POWERS
Trust (and ultimately POWERS
Holders) under the FOLAs.
Once payment obligations to the
POWERS Trust are met, residual
funds are available to be paid as
stapled security distributions.

Relationship of POWERS Trust
with DUET
The POWERS Trust, a sub-trust
of DUET 1 and DUET 2, is a
registered managed investment
scheme which was established
in June 2003 to raise
$415 million for the purpose of
providing financing to DUET 1
and DUET 2. A subsequent
issue of $155 million of POWERS
was made in December 2004 for
the purpose of providing funding
for the acquisition of DUET’s
interest in the DBNGP. POWERS
are preferred, cumulative,
exchangeable, redeemable reset
units in the POWERS Trust.

There are two classes of units in
the POWERS Trust: POWERS
ordinary units (which are
not quoted on the ASX) and
POWERS, which are preferred
units of the POWERS Trust
(which are quoted on the ASX).
DUET 1 and DUET 2 own all the
POWERS ordinary units.

AMPCI is the responsible entity
of the POWERS Trust. Under
the FOLAs the POWERS Trust
has onlent DUET 1 and DUET 2
funds raised from the issue
of POWERS. An amount of
$405 million has been onlent
to assist DUET 1 and DUET 2
to provide shareholder
subordinated funding to each
of the UED, Multinet and
AGN groups and $150 million
to provide shareholder
subordinated funding to 
the DBP Group.

DUET Management
and Structure
continued

Proceeds of FOLA

Stapled securities

Subordinated debt

Senior debt

DUET stapled 
security holders

POWERS holders 
via POWERS Trust

Equity

Funds providers

Funds flow

DUET

Capital structure of
asset owing groups

Senior lenders

DUET’s funding structure
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between the POWERS Trust and
DUET are as follows:

Repayment of FOLAs
The ability of the POWERS
responsible entity to meet its
obligations to POWERS holders
(including redemption on their
10-year maturity) depends on
payments under the FOLAs
being made by DUET 1 and
DUET 2.

Exchange of POWERS
POWERS holders may request
the POWERS responsible entity
to exchange some or all of their
POWERS by giving an exchange
notice in certain circumstances,
including:

–on a POWERS reset date; or

–where an exchange event
occurs.

An exchange event is the
occurrence of any of the
following events:

–termination of, or winding up of,
the POWERS Trust or of DUET 1
or DUET 2, change of control 
via an informal scheme of
arrangement of DUET 1 or 
DUET 2, sale by either of RE1 or
RE2 of all or substantially all of
DUET’s assets, delisting of
POWERS or acceleration of at
least two of the SOLAs if there
are outstanding POWERS
distributions; or

–non-payment of a POWERS
distribution for more than 20
business days, a takeover of
DUET or delisting of DUET 
from ASX.

If the POWERS responsible
entity receives an exchange
notice it must, at its option, 
do one of the following:

–redeem the POWERS for the
POWERS redemption amount
for exchange, so that they may
be exchanged into DUET
stapled securities;

–arrange a third party to acquire
the POWERS for the POWERS
Redemption Amount; or

–redeem and cancel the
POWERS for the POWERS
Redemption Amount.

To the extent that exchange in
the above circumstances results
in the issue of stapled securities,
the stapled securities will be
issued at a discount of 5%
(or as otherwise determined in
accordance with the POWERS
Terms) to a volume weighted
average price of stapled
securities over a 20 business
day period preceding the date
of exchange (or other relevant
trigger date).

Distribution stopper
Whilst any POWERS are still
outstanding, payments of
interest and principal to the
POWERS trust under the FOLAs
will have priority over payment
of income and capital to
Investors. DUET cannot make
any cash distributions to DUET
security holders if POWERS
distributions have not been paid
to POWERS holders.

Security
DUET 1 and DUET 2 have
granted security over their loans
to, and interests in, the asset
holding companies to the
POWERS trust to secure its
loans under the FOLA.

Restrictions on issuers
DUET has agreed to certain
other restrictions. These include
an obligation not to allow a
prepayment of, or amendment
to, the SOLAs, or to waive
compliance with the SOLAs
unless the POWERS responsible
entity has agreed.

Takeover
If a takeover bid is made for the
stapled securities DUET must
use all reasonable endeavours
to ensure that there is an
equivalent takeover offer made
to POWERS holders.

DUET Group annual report 2006



DUET is managed jointly (50:50)
by AMPCH and Macquarie.

DUET’s management team
has expert knowledge of, and
experience in, the energy utility
sector, and the responsible
entities will have access to
the combined infrastructure
expertise and investment
management resources of
the Macquarie Group and the
AMP Capital Group.

Each of the responsible entities
and DIHL has an experienced
board of directors, a majority
of whom are independent from
DUET, the AMP Capital Group
and the Macquarie Group.

Philip is the AMPCH appointed
director of the responsible
entities and DIHL, and is the
chairman of each of these
companies. Philip is responsible
for the overall infrastructure
business of AMPCI. He has 
over 20 years’ experience in
infrastructure development and
investment, and was previously
chief executive officer of Tenix
Infrastructure.

Philip was also a long-term senior
executive with Lend Lease
Corporation, culminating in
his role as CEO of Lend Lease
Capital Services, the
development capital and
infrastructure investment and
development arm of Lend Lease.
He also spent two years in
Singapore implementing
the company’s Asian
infrastructure strategy.

Philip is a director of the
Australian Council for
Infrastructure Development
and is a member of the Barton
Group, a Federal Government
initiated group aimed at
developing the Australian
environment industry. He is
also a director of several
infrastructure companies in
which AMPCI invests, including
the RiverCity Motorway Group,
and of SCEGGS Darlinghurst
school. Philip holds the
Advanced Diploma from the
Australian Institute of Company
Directors.

Directors’ Profiles Philip Garling 
B.Build FAIB, FAICD, FIE (Aust), AFAIM
Chairman
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 1 Limited
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 2 Limited
DUET Investment Holdings
Limited
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John Roberts joined Macquarie
in 1991. He is based in Sydney
and is the global head of the
Investment Banking Groups’
Funds business and joint head
of Macquarie’s Corporate
Finance division. Prior to his
return to Sydney in 2003, John
led the Infrastructure Funds
group in London and was
responsible for Macquarie’s
Investment Banking Group
activities in Europe, as well
as being head of Macquarie’s
London office. John is currently
a member of several Investment
committees and boards of
Macquarie-managed vehicles.

Michael served in the Australian
Parliament for 17 years, and
held a number of senior positions
in both government and
opposition. He was Minister
for Tourism, Communications
and the Arts in the Keating
government. He is currently a
councillor of the City of Sydney,
and a director of Macquarie
Airports (appointed 2003),
Country Energy (appointed 2002),
and of Michael Lee Consulting
Pty Limited. He is also
chairman of the Central Coast
Campuses Board. 

Douglas has broad financial
and general management
experience as a chief executive
officer, chief financial officer
and senior executive. Doug
has worked in financial services,
publishing and media, IT and
manufacturing sectors with
organisations including NV
Philips (in Australia, UK and
the Netherlands), Hill Samuel
Australia, NM Rothschild & Sons
Australia, Goodman Fielder,
John Fairfax Holdings,
IBM Global Services and
the Thomson Corporation.
He has considerable experience
in strategy and corporate
development plus large-scale
acquisitions and financing.
He also has broad experience in
business development in China,
Japan and South East Asia.
Doug is currently chairman of
Mikoh Corporation Ltd and a
director of the Cape Grim Water
Company, SISS21 and Find
Engine Australia as well as
being retained by several large
private companies in an
advisory capacity.

John Roberts
LLB
Director
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 1 Limited
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 2 Limited
DUET Investment Holdings
Limited

The Hon. Michael Lee 
BSc, BEng (Hons1), FIE (Aust)
Independent director 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 1 Limited

Douglas James Halley
BCom, MBA
Independent director
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 1 Limited
DUET Investment Holdings
Limited



Emma’s operational utilities
experience includes asset
management, stakeholder
management (regulators,
consumer watchdogs, and
governments), international
business operations, strategy
development and
implementation, acquisition
integration, separation and
change management. Emma is
a non-executive director of ARC
Energy (a Perth Basin oil and gas
exploration and production
company), Integral Energy and
the Growth Centres
Commission. Formerly, she
was a non-executive director
of Merlin Petroleum Limited
(an Australian oil and gas
exploration and production
company) and its wholly owned
subsidiary Merlin Energy and a
UK non-executive director for
Cofathec Heatsave Ltd and an
executive UK board director for
Gaz de France Energy. Emma is
also a member of the Strategy
and Resources board
committee of the University of
Western Sydney and a NSW
Ambassador for the Guides.

Ron is principal and chief
executive of Finlay Consulting.
He has over 30 years’
experience in property,
construction, development and
infrastructure projects, including
as project manager or facilitator
of major infrastructure projects
in Australia and overseas for
both public and private sector
organisations. Ron is currently a
director and company secretary
of BAA Australia Pty Ltd (holder
of significant interests in airports
in Melbourne, Launceston, Perth
and the Northern Territory) and
director and chair of the New
South Wales Transport
Infrastructure Development
Corporation. Ron has been
involved in major local
government PPP projects for the
councils in both Liverpool and
Parramatta. He has also served
on various public and private
sector boards including the
Darling Harbour Authority and
the Central Sydney Planning
Committee. Ron was the
managing partner of Corrs
Chambers Westgarth from 1990
until 1993, having practised as a
solicitor and partner with the firm
since 1976.

Directors’ Profiles
continued

Emma Stein 
BSc Hons Physics, MBA
Independent director 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 1 Limited
DUET Investment Holdings
Limited

Ron Finlay
LLB 
Independent director 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 2 Limited
DUET Investment Holdings
Limited
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Eric joined the Lend Lease
Group in 1963 as a cadet
engineer and during his 42-year
career with Lend Lease held a
number of senior executive and
subsidiary board positions in the
Australian Operations. Eric has
extensive experience in design,
construction and project
management, general
management and investment
and funds management. Eric
managed the MLC Property
Portfolio during the 1980s and
was the founding Fund Manager
of Australian Prime Property
Fund. Eric is a director of
Macquarie Global Property Fund
Advisors, the GPT Group and
Eureka Funds Management. 
He is also a council member of
the Aloysius College Council. 

Duncan has broad experience
in the mining, metals and auto
industries where his focus areas
included mergers, acquisitions
and divestments, business
analysis and corporate planning.
Duncan was a member of the
senior management teams at
Ford and Chrysler until 1979
within the finance, marketing
and production divisions in
Brazil, Argentina, Australia and
Europe. In 1980 Duncan joined
CRA Limited, and was most
recently responsible for
acquisitions and divestments,
corporate strategy and business
development. After CRA merged
with RTZ in 1995, Duncan
became managing director,
energy developments, in the 
re-named Rio Tinto, responsible
for the management of
acquisitions and divestments.
Duncan is currently a director
of the responsible entities of
the trusts comprised in the
Macquarie Global Infrastructure
Fund and a director of
Haileybury College, Melbourne.

Christine is a qualified solicitor
and has worked in the banking
industry for 23 years, including
14 years in funds management
performing a general counsel/
company secretarial and
compliance function for listed
and wholesale infrastructure
and other specialised funds
managed by the Macquarie
Bank Group.

Eric Goodwin
BEng, MIE (Aust) 
Independent director 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 2 Limited 

Duncan Sutherland
BA, MBA 
Independent director
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 2 Limited

Christine Williams
MA, LLB (Syd)
Company secretary



Legal framework
DUET is a triple stapled
structure. The entities
comprised in DUET are two
Australian registered managed
investment schemes and an
Australian public company:

– DUET 1;

– DUET 2; and

– DUET Investment Holdings
Limited (DIHL).

The units of DUET 1 and 
DUET 2 and DIHL shares are
stapled together and quoted
as one on the Australian Stock
Exchange. As a result the
securities cannot be traded
separately.

RE1 and RE2 are the
responsible entities (each a
Responsible Entity) of DUET 1
and DUET 2 respectively. The
Responsible Entities are owned
50% by AMPCH and 
50% by Macquarie Bank
Limited. Currently the only
business of the Responsible
Entities is to manage DUET. 
The Responsible Entities are
responsible for the overall
corporate governance of DUET
and the protection of
unitholders’ interests.

DIHL is an Australian public
company advised by RE1 in its
personal capacity. Under the
terms of the Management
Services Agreement appointing
RE1 as manager, RE1 makes
recommendations to DIHL
in respect of prospective
investments and advises on
the day-to-day business affairs
of DIHL.

The Corporations Act, ASX
Listing Rules, the DUET
constitutions, the shareholders’
agreement between AMPCH
and Macquarie Bank Limited
and the general law regulate the
workings of DUET and the
essential practices,
responsibilities and duties of the
Responsible Entities and their
officers. The Responsible
Entities must exercise their
functions diligently and in the
best interests of unitholders. 

The Responsible Entities/
Manager and their officers
manage the assets of DUET
and are responsible for all
investment decisions with
absolute discretion as to the
exercise of the Responsible
Entities’/Manager’s powers 
in accordance with the DUET
constitutions and the
Corporations Act.

The Responsible Entities/
Manager also undertake the
administrative functions of
DUET including preparation 
of DUET 1 and DUET 2 and
DIHL financial statements and
DUET consolidated financial
statements, preparation of
notices and reports to members
and monitoring of registry
services provided by
Computershare Investor
Services Pty Limited (ABN 
48 078 279 277) and custodial
services provided by Trust
Company of Australia Limited
(ABN 59 004 027 749) (in
respect of DUET 1) and
Perpetual Trustee Company
Limited (ABN 42 000 001 007)
(in respect of DUET 2).

DIHL and the Responsible
Entities (RE1 as responsible
entity of DUET 1 and in its
personal capacity as manager
of DIHL), have entered into a
Stapling Deed which governs
co-operation, investment policy
and the making of investments,
capital raising, borrowings,
financial reporting, continuous
disclosure and certain other
administrative matters for the
stapled entities with a view to
ensuring consistency in the
management of DUET.

The Macquarie and AMP
groups have each seconded
experienced staff with expert
knowledge of, and expertise in,
the energy utility sector to the
DUET management team and
provide other resources to the
Responsible Entities/Manager.

DUET was restructured in
August 2006 to include DIHL
as the third stapled entity by
way of an in-specie distribution.
The corporate governance
structure for RE1 and RE2 have
essentially been replicated
by DIHL. This corporate
governance statement has
been prepared for the
restructured DUET Group but it
applies equally to the situation
where DUET was a dual stapled
structure during 2006.

Corporate Governance
Statement



38 39DUET’s approach to
corporate governance
The boards are committed to
DUET seeking to achieve
superior financial performance
and long-term prosperity, 
while meeting stakeholders’
expectations of sound corporate
governance practices. This
statement outlines DUET’s main
corporate governance practices
as at 30 June 2006. Unless
otherwise stated, they reflect
the practices in place throughout
the financial year ending on
that date.

The boards determine the
corporate governance
arrangements for DUET. As with
all its business activities, DUET
is proactive in respect of
corporate governance and puts
in place those arrangements
which it considers are in the best
interests of DUET and its
unitholders and consistent with
its responsibilities to other
stakeholders. It actively reviews
Australian and international
developments in corporate
governance.

ASX Corporate Governance
Standards
The ASX Corporate Governance
Committee has Corporate
Governance Principles and
Best Practice Recommendations
(the Standards) which are
designed to maximise corporate
performance and accountability
in the interests of shareholders
and the broader economy.
The Standards encompass
matters such as board
composition, committees
and compliance procedures. 

Details of the Standards 
can be viewed at:
www.asx.com.au/supervision/
governance/index.htm. The
Standards are not prescriptive,
however listed entities (including
DUET) are required to disclose
the extent of their compliance
with the Standards, and to
explain why they have not
adopted a Standard if they
consider it inappropriate in 
their particular circumstances.

DUET’s corporate governance
policies are consistent with 
the Standards, except when
specifically stated in this
statement.

DUET Corporate
Governance Statement
Principle 1:
Lay solid foundations for
management and oversight
Responsibility for corporate
governance and the internal
workings of DUET rests with the
Responsible Entities and DIHL.
The board of each Responsible
Entity and DIHL has adopted 
a formal charter of directors’
functions and matters to be
delegated to management.

These charters are an
enhancement of board
responsibilities previously
disclosed in DUET Corporate
Governance Statements, having
regard to the recommendations
in the Standards.

An outline of the board charter
for the DUET entities is set out
below:

– Setting objectives, goals and
strategic direction for
management, with a view to
maximising investor wealth.

– Monitoring the implementation
of the principal investment
policy of DUET 1, DUET 2 and
DIHL in respect of investments.

– Approving and monitoring the
progress of major capital
expenditure, capital
management and acquisitions
and divestures.

– Adopting an annual budget.

– Approval of the shareholder
nominated Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) and review of the
performance of the CEO and,
where appropriate, removing 
the CEO.

– Approval of the shareholder
nominated Chief Financial
Officer (CFO) and the Chief
Operating Officer (COO) and
participating in the review of the
performance of the CFO and
COO and, where appropriate,
removing the CFO and COO.

– Appointing and removing the
company secretary.

– Monitoring senior
management’s performance and
implementation of strategy, and
ensuring appropriate resources
are available.

– Reviewing and ratifying systems
of risk management, compliance
and codes of conduct.

– Approving and monitoring
financial and other reporting.

– Setting the highest business
standards and codes for ethical
behaviour.

Full board meetings are held
regularly and at least bi-monthly,
and other meetings are called as
required. Directors are provided
with board reports in advance of
board meetings, which contain
sufficient information to enable
informed discussion of all
agenda items.

Each non-executive director 
of the Responsible Entities and
DIHL has received a letter of
appointment which details the
key terms of their appointment.
This letter includes all of the
recommended matters in the
Standards.

What you can find on our
website www.duet.net.au:

– a summary of the RE1, RE2 
and DIHL Board Charters.

DUET Group annual report 2006



Corporate Governance
Statement
continued

Principle 2:
Structure the board to add value

1.Composition
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management No. 1 
Limited board of directors is comprised as follows1: 

Philip Garling – Chairman
Executive (appointed by AMPCH – 17 February 2004)
Director and Chairman 

John Roberts – Director
Executive (appointed by Macquarie – 14 May 2004)
Director 

Michael Lee – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director 

Doug Halley – Director
Independent (appointed 13 February 2006)
Director 

Emma Stein – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director 

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management No. 2 
Limited board of directors is comprised as follows1: 

Philip Garling – Chairman
Executive (appointed by AMPCH – 17 February 2004)
Director and Chairman 

John Roberts – Director
Executive (appointed by Macquarie – 14 May 2004)
Director 

Ron Finlay – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director 

Eric Goodwin – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director 

Duncan Sutherland – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director 

DUET Investment Holdings Limited board of directors is comprised
as follows1:

Philip Garling – Chairman
Executive (appointed by RE2 – 29 June 2006)
Director and Chairman

John Roberts – Director
Executive (appointed by RE1 – 29 June 2006)
Director

Doug Halley – Director
Independent (appointed by RE2 – 29 June 2006)
Director

Emma Stein – Director
Independent (appointed by RE1 – 12 July 2006)
Director

Ron Finlay – Director
Independent (appointed by RE1 and RE2 – 4 August 2006)
Director

Notes

1. Profiles of these directors,

are on pages 30 to 33 of

this report.
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2.Appointment to the boards 
of the DUET Entities
The following has been adopted
by the boards in relation to
board membership:

– Each Responsible Entity board
comprises one director
appointed by AMPCH, one
director appointed by Macquarie
and three independent directors.
The AMP Capital and Macquarie
appointees are on the board of
each Responsible Entity.
Different independent directors
are on the board of each
Responsible Entity.

Under the DIHL Constitution,
RE1 in its personal capacity has
been issued with an A Special
Share (and has rights under
the Management Services
Agreement) which entitles it
to appoint the directors
constituting up to 40% of the
DIHL board. RE2 as responsible
entity of DUET 2 has been issued
with a B Special Share which
entitles it to appoint director(s)
constituting up to 40% of the
DIHL board. RE1 and RE2 (in
their capacity as responsible
entity of DUET 1 and DUET 2
respectively) have each been
issued with a C Special Share,
which entitles them to jointly
appoint director(s) constituting
up to 20% of the DIHL board.
Further details are provided on
page 42 of this report.

– Each board is to comprise a
maximum of five directors.

– Each independent director must
satisfy the independence criteria
(summarised below).

– Each board is to be comprised
of directors with an appropriate
range of qualifications and
experience.

– Any nominee of AMPCH or
Macquarie may be removed 
by AMPCH or Macquarie,
respectively.

– To ensure the board has the
benefit of regular new input 
and to avoid the potential for
loss of objectivity over time,
independent directors will retire
after nine years.

– The chairperson of each board
will be the nominee director
appointed by AMPCH for the
first three years from
establishment of DUET and
thereafter on each third
anniversary the chairperson 
may be rotated such that the
shareholder appointing the
chairperson is not the
shareholder appointing the
DUET CEO. The shareholder
appointing the chairperson 
will ensure that the person 
is of appropriate stature to 
act as chairperson. 

The importance of having
appropriately independent
directors determined by
objective criteria is
acknowledged as being
desirable to protect investor
interests and optimise the
financial performance of DUET
and returns to investors.

In determining the status of a
director, the shareholders and
boards of the Responsible
Entities have adopted the
following standards of
independence.

An independent director is 
a director of the Responsible
Entity or DIHL who is not a
member of management 
(a non-executive director) and
who qualifies as an external
director in accordance with
Chapter 5C of the Corporations
Act and who meets the 
following criteria:

– Is not a substantial shareholder
of Macquarie, AMP Limited
(AMP), DUET or a company
holding more than 10% of the
voting securities of Macquarie,
AMP or DUET.

– Is not an officer of, or otherwise
associated directly or indirectly
with, a substantial shareholder
of the Responsible Entity or a
substantial shareholder holding
more than 10% of the voting
securities of Macquarie, AMP 
or DUET.

– Has not, within the last three
years, been:

– employed in an executive
capacity by the Responsible
Entity, DIHL, a Macquarie
Group entity or an AMP Group
entity; or

– a director of any such entity
after ceasing to hold any such
employment.

– Is not a principal or employee 
of a professional adviser to the
Responsible Entity, DIHL, DUET,
Macquarie, AMP or other funds
managed by the Macquarie
Group or the AMP Group or
where billings, in aggregate,
exceed 5% of the adviser’s 
or consultant’s total revenues.

(A director who is a principal 
or employee of a professional
adviser will not participate in any
consideration of the possible
appointment of the professional
adviser and will not participate 
in the provision of any service 
by the professional adviser 
to DUET 1 or DUET 2, the
Macquarie Group or the 
AMP Group.)

– Is not a significant supplier or
customer of the Responsible
Entity, DIHL, DUET, the
Macquarie Group, the AMP
Group or other funds managed
by the Macquarie Group or the
AMP Group, or an officer of or
otherwise associated directly 
or indirectly with, a significant
supplier or customer.

(A significant supplier is defined
as one whose revenues from
DUET, the Macquarie Group,
the AMP Group and other funds
managed by the Macquarie
Group or the AMP Group exceed
5% of the supplier’s total
revenue. A significant customer
is one whose amounts payable
to DUET, the Macquarie Group,
the AMP Group and other funds
managed by the Macquarie
Group or the AMP Group exceed
5% of the customer’s total
operating costs.)

– Has no material contractual
relationship with RE1, RE2,
DIHL, or the Macquarie Group
or the AMP Group other than
as a director of RE1 or RE2 or 
a director of another Macquarie
Group or AMP Group related
responsible entity and/or special
purpose vehicle board.

– Is not a director of more than
two Macquarie Group or two
AMP Group related responsible
entity or special purpose
vehicle boards.

– Has no other interest or
relationship that could interfere
with the director’s ability to act
in the best interests of the
Responsible Entity, DIHL,
DUET, and independently from
management of the Macquarie
Group and the AMP Group.

The standards of independence
which have been applied are
substantively similar to, but are
not the same as, those which
are suggested in the Standards.
The principal area of difference
is that the criteria are designed
to achieve independence from
both DUET, the AMP Group 
and the Macquarie Group. 
The directors believe that the
adoption of these independence
criteria better reflects the true
nature of independence in the
present circumstances and
does not materially prejudice
unitholders.

The following guidelines apply
to director selection and
nomination:

– Integrity;

– Particular expertise (sector and
functional) and the degree to
which they complement the 
skill set of the existing board
members;
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– Reputation and standing in 
the market; and

– In the case of prospective
independent directors actual 
(as prescribed by the above
definition) and perceived
independence from the
Macquarie and AMP Groups.

The boards have not appointed
a nomination committee. The
boards do not consider such 
a committee appropriate in
circumstances where there are
only two shareholders and it has
adopted independence criteria
set out above. It is considered
that this process is sufficiently
transparent to justify not
appointing a nomination
committee.

DIHL Special Shares
The procedure for appointing 
the board of DIHL reflects the
inherent requirements of the
stapling which exists between
shares in DIHL and units in
DUET 1 and DUET 2 and the
Management Services
Agreement (between DIHL
and RE1).

As noted above, under the DIHL
Constitution, RE1 in its personal
capacity has been issued with
an A Special Share (and has
rights under the Management
Services Agreement) which
entitles it to appoint the directors
constituting up to 40% of the
DIHL board. RE2 as responsible
entity of DUET 2 has been
issued with a B Special Share
which entitles it to appoint
director(s) constituting up to
40% of the DIHL board. RE1 
and RE2 (in their capacity as
responsible entity of DUET 1 and
DUET 2 respectively) have each
been issued with a C Special
Share, which entitles them to
jointly appoint director(s)
constituting up to 20% of the
DIHL board.

None of the A, B, or C Special
Shares has any economic
interest, which means that the
holders of those shares are not
entitled to any dividends and 
are only entitled to the paid up
capital of those shares on a
winding up of DIHL.

Of the present DIHL board:

– the RE1 appointed directors are
John Roberts and Emma Stein;

– the RE2 appointed directors are
Phil Garling and Doug Halley;

– the RE1 and RE2 jointly
appointed director is Ron Finlay.

The rationale for this approach 
is that in the stapled structure:

(i) The provisions of the stapling
deed between RE1 (as
responsible entity of DUET 1
and manager of DIHL), RE2 
(as responsible entity of DUET 2)
and DIHL, and also the practical
operation of the boards of the
Responsible Entities and DIHL,
are designed to ensure that there
is consistent management and
implementation across each of
the three entities which
comprise the DUET Group.

(ii)The DIHL board has a sufficient
quorum of independent
directors to vote on transactions
with MBL Group and AMP
Group companies.

(iii)Under the Corporations Act 
(in respect of RE1 and RE2 as
responsible entity) and the
Management Services
Agreement if security holders 
are not satisfied with the
performance of the Responsible
Entities and manager, RE1, they
can be removed by ordinary
security holder resolution.

3.Chairman
The initial chairman of each
board is Philip Garling. Philip is
an executive of AMPCH and the
director appointed by AMPCH,
and as such does not satisfy the
independence recommendation
of the Standards. The joint
venture arrangements require
the Responsible Entities’
Chairman to be an executive
Chairman given DUET 1 and
DUET 2 are externally managed
trusts and Macquarie and
AMP branded.

In June 2007 and on each
subsequent third anniversary,
the right to appoint the chairman
will be rotated between AMPCH
and Macquarie so that the party
who has not appointed the
incumbent chairman may
appoint the chairman for the
next three years, provided the
CEO is also rotated.

The appointing shareholder is
required to ensure that the
chairman is of appropriate
stature for a listed entity.

The Board Charters for each of
the Responsible Entities provide
that all independent directors
will meet at least once per year
in the absence of management
and at other times as they
determine.

4.Independent professional
advice
The directors of the Responsible
Entities and DIHL are entitled to
obtain independent professional
advice at the cost of the relevant
trust subject to the estimated
costs being first approved by 
the chairman as reasonable.
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Principle 3:
Promote ethical and
responsible decision making
Directors of the Responsible
Entities and DIHL, and all
seconded staff, contractors and
consultants of the Responsible
Entities and DIHL, performing
work for DUET, are required to
act in accordance with the DUET
Code of Conduct (Code)
adopted by the board of each
Responsible Entity and DIHL.
The Code is based on the Code
of Conduct established by
Macquarie. The Code sets out
principles and standards for the
directors and executives in
respect of practices necessary
to maintain confidence in
DUET’s integrity, and the
responsibility and accountability
of individuals for reporting and
investigating reports of unethical
behaviour. The Code includes
whistleblower, anti-corruption
and dealing with governments
and anti-money laundering
policies. The Code also
encompasses principles for
compliance with legal and other
obligations to DUET’s
stakeholders, including security
holders, employees, customers,
and the broader financial and
other communities in which
DUET operates.

The Code of Conduct is
periodically reviewed and
updated and the updated code
adopted by the Responsible
Entity and DIHL boards. The
Code is distributed to all
directors and staff and
reinforced at induction and
other training programs.

A policy on securities dealings 
is in place under which directors
of the Responsible Entities, 
DIHL and staff involved in the
management of DUET are
restricted in their ability to deal 
in DUET securities. Security
trading by DUET directors,
officers and staff is permitted
only during four week special
trading windows following the
release of DUET’s half-yearly
and yearly financial results and
following the annual general
meeting or lodgement with 
ASIC and ASX of a disclosure
document for a capital raising.

When trading cannot take
place during the trading
windows following results
announcements, pending
disclosure of significant
transactional activity being
undertaken by DUET, a special
four-week trading window may
apply following an ASX release
in respect of the transaction.

Special arrangements will apply
for the trading by associates of
the Responsible Entities and
DIHL of DUET securities issued
in connection with performance
fees. Standing instructions must
be given to a Macquarie Group
broker during a designated
directors and staff trading
window to sell at above a
designated price with the
trade to take place at any time
in accordance with the
instructions. Any instructions
given will be on the basis that
Chinese Walls are operating
with the broker at all times
during the currency of the
instruction. Alternatively, the
securities will be placed in a
blind trust with an external
broker during a trading window
with irrevocable instructions to
sell at above a designated price
with the trade to take place at
any time in accordance with
instructions. 

What you can find on our
website:

– a summary of the Code of
Conduct; and

– a summary of the main
provisions of the securities
(windows) trading policy.

Principle 4:
Safeguard integrity
in financial reporting

1. Audit and Risk Committees
Each of the Responsible Entities
and DIHL has appointed an
Audit and Risk Committee
comprising only independent
directors and complying with the
requirements of the Standards.
They are currently comprised
as follows:

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 1 Limited
Audit and Risk Committee:

Doug Halley – Director
(Committee Chairman)
Independent 
(attended two of three 
meetings held – appointed 
13 February 2006)

Michael Lee – Director
Independent 
(attended two of three 
meetings held)

Emma Stein – Director
Independent
(attended three of three 
meetings held) 

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 2 Limited
Audit and Risk Committee:

Duncan Sutherland – Director
(Committee Chairman)
Independent 
(attended three of three 
meetings held)

Ron Finlay – Director
Independent 
(attended three of three 
meetings held)

Eric Goodwin – Director
Independent
(attended three of three 
meetings held)

DUET Investment Holdings
Limited Audit and Risk
Committee:

Doug Halley – Director
(Committee Chairman)
Independent

Emma Stein – Director
Independent

Ron Finlay – Director
Independent

DIHL held no meetings as at
30 June 2006 (as it was only
incorporated on 29 June 2006).
The qualifications of the members
of the Audit and Risk Committee
can be found on the DUET
website and later in this report.

2.Audit and Risk
Committee Charters
In establishing their Audit
and Risk Committees, the
Responsible Entities and DIHL
have each established a charter
which sets out each Audit and
Risk Committee’s role,
responsibilities, composition,
structure and membership
requirements. The charter is the
same for each of the companies.

The responsibilities of the Audit
and Risk Committee under each
charter are to:

– Review and report to the boards
on the financial statements and
related notes, and on the
external auditor’s audit of the
financial statements and the
report thereon.

– Recommend to the boards the
appointment and removal of the
external auditors, review the
terms of their engagement
including arrangements for the
rotation of external audit
partners, and the scope and
quality of the audit.

– Monitor auditor independence.
The Audit and Risk Committee
meets with the external auditors
at least twice a year and more
frequently if required.
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Details of the risk monitoring
duties of the Audit and Risk
Committee, together with
a discussion of auditor
independence, are set out in the
Principle 7 commentary below.

3.Senior Executive Reporting
Each Responsible Entity and
DIHL requires representation
letters from the CEO (or
equivalent) and the CFO (or
equivalent) in relation to the
financial statements of each
entity and the consolidated
DUET financial statements.
The letters are required to state:

a. The financial reports of each
of DUET 1, DUET 2, DIHL and
the consolidated financial
statements of DUET as the case
may be, present a true and fair
view, in all material respects,
of the relevant entity’s financial
condition and operational results
and are in accordance with
relevant accounting standards.

b.The statement given in
paragraph (a) is founded on 
a sound system of risk
management and internal
compliance and control which
implements the policies adopted
by the relevant board.

c. The relevant company’s risk
management and internal
compliance and control
systems, to the extent that they
relate to financial reporting, are
operating effectively at 30 June
2006, in all material respects.

The statements provide a
reasonable, but not absolute,
level of assurance and do not
imply a guarantee against
adverse events or more volatile
outcomes arising in the future.

The CEO of DUET is 
Peter Barry. 

The COO of DUET is 
David Bartholomew. 

The CFO of DUET is 
Bruce Berry.

Directors of the Responsible
Entities and DIHL have
responsibility for signing the
consolidated DUET financial
statements on behalf of DUET 1,
DUET 2 and DIHL and
accordingly the DUET CEO and
CFO provide representation
letters for the consolidated
financial statements.

What you can find on our
website:

– the Audit and Risk Committee
Charters for DUET; and

– procedures for selection and
appointment of the external
auditor and for rotation of
external audit engagement
partners.

Principle 5:
Make timely and 
balanced disclosure
It is DUET’s policy to provide
timely, open and accurate
information to all stakeholders,
including stapled security
holders, regulators and the wider
investment community. Under
the terms of the Stapling Deed,
DUET 1, DUET 2 and DIHL are
obliged to exchange relevant
information and co-ordinate ASX
releases and financial reporting.

Each of the Responsible Entities
and DIHL has developed
policies and procedures (which
are part of the communications
policy referred to below) in
relation to disclosure and
compliance with ASX Listing
Rules disclosure requirements.

The procedures include dealing
with potentially price sensitive
information which includes
referral to the CEO and company
secretary/general counsel for a
determination as to disclosure
required. The ASX liaison person
is the Responsible Entities’ 
and DIHL’s company secretary.

What you can find on our
website:

– a summary of policies and
procedures in relation to
disclosure adopted by the
Responsible Entities.

Principle 6:
Respect the rights 
of shareholders
DUET has developed a security
holder communications policy.
The cornerstone of this policy 
is the delivery of timely and
relevant information as
described below.

Stapled security holders receive
an annual report and financial
statements and a half-yearly
update which keep them
informed of DUET’s
performance and operations.
Newsletters may also be sent 
to stapled security holders from
time to time.

DUET’s policy is to lodge
market-sensitive information
with the ASX and place such
information on its website,
including annual and interim
result announcements and
analyst presentations, as soon
as practically possible. DUET’s
website (www.duet.net.au)
includes recent announcements,
presentations, past and current
reports to security holders,
answers to frequently asked
questions and a summary of key
financial data since inception.
Investors may also register to
receive email copies of DUET’s
significant ASX announcements.
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Domestic investor roadshows
are held regularly throughout
Australia. International
roadshows are also held for
institutional unitholders. Where
they contain new information,
analyst and roadshow
presentations are released to 
the ASX and included on the
DUET website.

DUET also produces an analyst
package which is updated
annually. This comprehensive
guide aims to provide
transparency of DUET’s
investments and structure. 
The analyst package is available
on request and consists of a
financial modelling tool that
summarises the historical
financial performance of the
underlying investments 
of DUET.

Meetings of the three DUET
entities are convened at least
once a year, usually in late
October or early November. In
the case of DUET 1 and DUET 2,
which are not required under 
the Corporations Act to hold 
an AGM, these will be informal
annual meetings unless there 
is formal business to be
considered. An AGM for DIHL
will be held at the same time.

Presentations by the Chairman
and CEO at the investor
meetings are webcast.

For formal meetings an
explanatory memorandum on
the resolutions is included with
the Notice of Meeting. Unless
specifically stated in the Notice
of Meeting, all DUET stapled
security holders are eligible to
vote on all resolutions. In the
event that DUET stapled
security holders cannot attend
formal meetings they are able
to lodge a proxy in accordance
with the Corporations Act. Proxy
forms can be mailed, emailed 
or lodged by facsimile.

The auditor attends unitholder
meetings and is available to
answer unitholder questions.

What you can find on our website:

– a description of the
arrangements DUET has to
promote communication with
security holders.

Principle 7:
Recognise and manage risk
The Responsible Entities and
DIHL have formalised risk
management policies.
Compliance with these policies
is monitored by each board’s
Audit and Risk Committee.

Risks are managed through 
the risk management framework
in place and include:

– Investment risk.

– Regulatory and reporting risks.

– Financial risks (such as liquidity,
interest rate, currency,
investment, credit).

– Legal risk (such as contract
enforceability, covenants,
litigation).

– Compliance risk.

– Operational risks (such as
people, processes,
infrastructure, technology,
systems outsourcing and
geographic coverage).

– Environmental and social
responsibilities including 
OH&S risks.

– Project risks.

– Asset performance risks.

– Reputation risks (such as
investor relations, media
management).

– Strategic risks.

As part of its risk monitoring
duties each Audit and Risk
Committee is required to:

a.Enquire of management, and 
the external auditor, about
significant risks or exposures
and assess the steps
management has taken to
minimise such risks to DUET.

b.Consider and review with the
external auditor:

– the adequacy of DUET’s
internal controls including
computerised information
system controls and security.

– any related significant findings
and recommendations of the
external auditor on the matter
of internal controls together
with management’s responses
thereto.

c.Monitor and review (at least
annually) the effectiveness 
of DUET’s operational risk
management framework 
and compliance with key risk
management policies.

d.Review the scope of any internal
audit to be conducted and the
independence of any internal
audit team.

The Responsible Entities and
DIHL are subject to periodic
review conducted by Macquarie
and AMP Operational Risk
Review (internal audit) area.

The Responsible Entities and
DIHL require representation
letters from management 
(see Principle 4 – Paragraph 3) 
to address risk management
and internal controls. 

The Audit and Risk Committee
has adopted a policy which
includes the following to ensure
the independence of the
external auditor:

– the external auditor must remain
independent from the DUET
Group at all times and must
comply with Professional
Statement F.1 pertaining to
financial independence, and
business and employment
relationships;

– the external auditor must
monitor its independence and
report to the board every six
months that it has remained
independent;

– significant permissible non-audit
assignments awarded to the
external auditor must be
approved in advance by the
Audit and Risk Committee (or its
Chairman between meetings);

– all non-audit assignments are
to be reported to the Audit and
Risk Committee every six
months; and

– the DUET audit engagement
partner and review partner must
be rotated every five years.

The auditor attends DUET
annual general meetings and
is available to answer security
holder questions on the conduct
of the audit, and the preparation
and content of the auditor’s
report.

What you can find on our website:

– a description of DUET’s risk
management policies and
framework;

– a description of DUET’s auditor
independence policy; and

– a description of DUET’s
environmental and social
(including OH&S) responsibility
management policy.



Principle 8:
Encourage enhanced
performance
In order to ensure that the
directors and senior executives
of the Responsible Entities and
DIHL are properly performing
their duties, the Responsible
Entities and DIHL have
implemented the following:

– A formal annual performance
self-assessment of the Board,
the Audit and Risk Committee,
and individual directors.

– The DUET CEO is initially a
Macquarie employee and the
DUET CFO and COO are initially
AMP Capital employees each
seconded to the Responsible
Entities and DIHL as required.
The CEO’s performance is
assessed in September and
March each year as part of
Macquarie’s formal employee
performance evaluation process
and the CFO and COO’s
performance are assessed as
part of AMPCI’s performance
appraisal process. In addition,
the Responsible Entities’ boards
provide annual feedback in
respect of each of these officers
as part of their performance
appraisals. 

– A formal induction program
for directors and executives.

– Access by directors and
executives to continuing
education to update and
enhance their skills and
knowledge.

The procedure for evaluation
of each board’s performance is:

– Directors are given the
opportunity to discuss individual
performance and feedback on
performance with the chairman
and the chairman speaks with
each director separately to
discuss individual performance
and the effectiveness of each
board and board committees
as a whole.

– The boards as a whole discuss
and analyse board and
committee performance during
the year including suggestions
for change or improvement,
based on the chairman’s
feedback from his separate
discussions with each director.

Principle 9:
Remunerate fairly 
and responsibly
A formal Remuneration Report
with more details in respect of
the following information can
also be found on page 84 of 
this report. 

1.Remuneration of Directors 
and Executives 
RE1 in its capacity as
responsible entity of DUET 1 and
manager of DIHL, and RE2 in its
capacity as responsible entity of
DUET 2 are entitled to be paid a
fee for discharging their
management functions.

One of the responsibilities of the
Responsible Entities is to make
available employees (including
senior executives) to discharge
their obligations to DUET. This
means that DUET is not liable for
expenses referable to staff and
directors. The independent
director fees are paid by the
Responsible Entities and DIHL 
in their personal capacity. They
are not paid by DUET. In the
case of the Macquarie and
AMPCH executive directors,
remuneration earned in
connection with their roles as
directors on the boards of the
Responsible Entities are paid
by Macquarie and AMPCH
respectively.

For the financial year ended 
30 June 2006, the non-executive
directors of the Responsible
Entities were each entitled to a
director’s fee of $60,000 per
annum. 

Save as disclosed in the
Remuneration Report, none 
of the Responsible Entities’ 
or DIHL’s directors, executives
or staff are entitled to DUET
options or securities or to
retirement benefits as part of
their remuneration package.

DUET holds its investments
through interests in special
purpose project vehicles. Most
of these vehicles have their own
internal management which is
paid for at the vehicle level.
Where Responsible Entity staff
are required to serve as directors
on the boards of these vehicles
or are seconded to them from
time to time, any fees in respect
of these arrangements are paid
to DUET.

2.Remuneration of the Manager
Under the terms of the DUET
constitutions and DIHL
Management Services
Agreement, base and
performance fees are payable
by DUET to the Responsible
Entities. 

The base fee is calculated as
1% p.a. of the net investment
value of DUET at the end of each
quarter.

For the purposes of calculating
the base fee, the net investment
value of DUET is:

Corporate Governance
Statement
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46 47– the volume weighted average
market capitalisation over the
last 20 ASX trading days of each
quarter; plus

– borrowings; plus

– firm commitments for future
investments; less

– cash or cash equivalents.

A performance fee is payable by
DUET half-yearly in arrears if the
performance of DUET stapled
securities exceeds the
performance of the S&P/ASX
200 Industrials Accumulation
Index (Benchmark Index) for 
the period, having made up 
for any underperformance in
previous years.

The performance fee is 20% of
the return above the benchmark
return for the period.

Under the DUET constitutions
and DIHL Management Services
Agreement, independent
directors of the Responsible
Entities and DIHL, acting in the
interests of DUET stapled
security holders, have the
discretion as to whether or not
the performance fee is applied
for a subscription in new DUET
stapled securities. The decision
whether to accept or reject that
application will be made by the
independent directors acting in
the interests of DUET stapled
security holders. The issue price
for the new DUET stapled
securities is the volume
weighted average trading price
of all DUET stapled securities
traded on the ASX during the
last 10 business days of the
relevant financial year when the
instalment is paid.

The Responsible Entities are
also entitled to receive expenses
and services fees. All expenses
incurred by the Responsible
Entities in relation to the proper
performance of their duties in
respect of DUET are payable or
reimbursable out of the assets 
of DUET to the extent that such
reimbursement is not prohibited
by the Corporations Act. 
This includes routine ongoing
expenses of DUET such as the
cost of acquiring assets and
managing them, as well as
product disclosure statement
costs, registry, audit, insurance,
compliance costs and 
other expenses.

3. Remuneration Committee
The boards of the Responsible
Entities and DIHL do not
consider it necessary or
appropriate to constitute a 

remuneration committee.
Given the payment of the
management fee (and the 
fact that any change to the
determination of that fee would
require unitholder approval) 
and the Responsible Entity’s
and DIHL’s lack of exposure 
to remuneration expenses, 
a remuneration committee 
is not justified.

Principle 10: 
Recognise the legitimate
interests of stakeholders
The Code of Conduct adopted
by the Responsible Entities 
and DIHL (see Principle 3)
establishes a code of conduct
which amongst other things
addresses matters relevant to
the Responsible Entity’s and
DIHL’s compliance with its legal
obligations to stakeholders.

The Code of Conduct covers
those areas which the boards 
of the Responsible Entities and
DIHL consider relevant to the
operations of DUET. There is a
compliance procedure in place
to ensure the Code of Conduct
is adhered to and a formal
complaints handling procedure
has been implemented.

What you can find on our
website:

– a summary of the Code of
Conduct.

Specific Issues 
related to DUET
Transactions with Macquarie
and AMP Group companies
Macquarie, AMPCH and their
respective related entities
undertake various transactions
with, and perform various
services for, DUET from time 
to time. In particular, AMPCI 
has been appointed as financial
adviser for debt and debt
advisory work in relation to
DUET, and Macquarie Group
companies have been
appointed as financial advisers
for acquisitions/divestitures 
and additional equity raising 
in relation to DUET.

The Responsible Entities and
DIHL have adopted protocols
to ensure that any transactions
between DUET and AMP or
Macquarie Group companies
are not considered by the
AMPCH or Macquarie
nominated directors. Any
transactions between DUET
and AMP Group or Macquarie
Group companies must be on
arm’s length terms and will be
reviewed by the independent
directors. Macquarie and/or
AMPCH directors, as the case
may be, do not vote or, unless
invited by the independent

directors, participate in
discussion on related party
matters.

All Macquarie Group and AMP
Group transactions involving
DUET and its controlled entities
are tested by reference to
whether they meet market
standards. In particular, fees
and mandate terms and
conditions are subject to third
party review unless the
independent directors
determine otherwise on the
basis of appropriate market
information or practice. 

Foreign exchange transactions
where commissions to MBL
Group companies are less than
$100,000 are transacted with
reference to independent pricing
checks and arrangements and
benchmarked annually.
However, in the case of foreign
exchange transactions requiring
strict confidentiality, MBL must
be used, subject to independent
director approval.

Compliance Committee
Under the Corporations Act
managed investments regime,
the Responsible Entities are
required to register a
Compliance Plan for each trust
with the Australian Securities
and Investments Commission
(ASIC). The Compliance Plans
outline the measures undertaken
to ensure compliance with the
Corporations Act and each 
trust constitution. It is the
Compliance Committee’s
responsibility to monitor RE1
and RE2’s compliance with the
Compliance Plans and report its
findings to the boards or ASIC 
if necessary.

The Compliance Committee is
currently comprised as follows:

Ray Kellerman
Chairman – External

Fiona Dixon – External

Peter Barry – Macquarie

Compliance officers have been
appointed to DUET and they are
responsible for reviewing and
monitoring the efficiency of
compliance systems on an
ongoing basis so that
appropriate compliance
procedures, staff education 
and Compliance Committee
reporting arrangements are 
in place to enable observance
of the Compliance Plans.

What you can find on our
website:

– the Compliance Plans for 
DUET 1 and DUET 2.
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What are AIFRS?
In 2002 the Australian
Government voted in favour 
of harmonising Australian
accounting standards with
International Financial Reporting
Standards, with effect from
2005. Following this decision,
the Australian Accounting
Standards Board issued a new
set of accounting standards,
Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting
Standards (AIFRS). These are
now used by all Australian
reporting entities in place of the
previous accounting standards
(AGAAP). AIFRS has resulted in
two types of changes:

– changes in the bases on which
accounts are prepared; and

– changes in the way individual
balances are measured.

The financial report for the year
ended 30 June 2006 includes
the first set of full year financial
statements prepared under
AIFRS. Comparative figures
presented in the financial
statements also comply 
with AIFRS.

What has this meant for
DUET? 
Classifications of units
Units in DUET 1 and DUET 2
were classified as financial
liabilities between 1 July 2005
and 30 June 2006 under AIFRS.
The profit of DUET for that
period has been expressed as 
a financing cost. This means
that in order to gain a consistent
view of DUET’s result period 
on period, this financing cost
attributable to security holders
must be added back to DUET’s
reported profit.

Accounting for stapled
groups
Under AIFRS, stapled groups
must identify one of the stapled
entities as the accounting
parent. DUET has identified
DUET 1 for this purpose.

Scope of impact
The adoption of AIFRS has 
not affected DUET’s business
strategy, the underlying value 
of DUET and its assets, the
cash flows of the group or the
tax payable by DUET or DUET’s
investors.

Guide to the Impact 
of AIFRS
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Directors’ Report

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management
No. 1 Limited is the Responsible Entity of
Diversified Utility and Energy Trusts No. 1 (DUET 1).
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management
No. 2 Limited is the Responsible Entity of
Diversified Utility and Energy Trusts No. 2 (DUET 2).
The Responsible Entities submit the following
report on the financial report of Diversified Utility
and Energy Trusts (DUET or the DUET Group), for
the year ended 30 June 2006.

The units of DUET 1 together with units of DUET 2
are issued as stapled securities in DUET.

UIG 1013 “Consolidated Financial Reports in
relation to Pre-Date of Transition Stapling
Arrangements” requires one of the stapled entities
of an existing stapled structure to be identified as
the parent entity for the purpose of preparing
consolidated financial reports. In accordance with
this requirement, DUET 1 has been identified as 
the parent of the consolidated group comprising
DUET 1, DUET 2 and the entities they control
acting as Diversified Utility and Energy Trusts
(DUET or the DUET Group).

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management
No. 1 Limited is a joint venture between AMP
Capital Holdings Limited (AMPCH), a wholly owned
subsidiary of AMP Limited, and Macquarie Bank
Limited (MBL).

Principal Activities
The principal activity of DUET 1, DUET 2 and the
DUET Group is investment in energy utility assets.
The investment policy of DUET 1, DUET 2 and the
Group is to invest funds in accordance with the
provisions of the Trust Constitutions and the
governing documents of the individual entities
within the DUET Group.

Directors
The following persons held office as directors of
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management
No. 1 Limited during the year and up to the date
of this report:

Philip Garling

John Roberts

Emma Stein

Dr Paul Moy
(resigned 4 October 2005)

The Hon Michael Lee

Doug Halley
(appointed 14 February 2006)

Gregory Osborne
(alternate for John Roberts; resigned 26 August 2005)

Mervyn Peacock
(alternate for Philip Garling; resigned 7 March 2006)

Stephen Mentzines
(alternate for John Roberts; appointed 26 August 2005)

The following persons held office as directors of
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management
No. 2 Limited during the year and up to the date
of this report:

Philip Garling

John Roberts

Ron Finlay

Eric Goodwin

Duncan Sutherland

Gregory Osborne
(alternate for John Roberts; resigned 25 August 2005)

Mervyn Peacock
(alternate for Philip Garling; resigned 7 March 2006)

Stephen Mentzines
(alternate for John Roberts; appointed 26 August 2005)

Review and Results of Operations
The performance for the year ended 30 June 2006
was as follows:

1 July 2005 1 July 2004
– 30 June 2006 – 30 June 2005

$’000 $’000

Revenue from 
continuing activities 819,792 772,018

Net profit from 
continuing activities 
after income tax 
expense and before 
finance costs to 
security holders 
and minority interest 68,097 89,738

Net profit from 
continuing activities 
after income tax 
expense and finance 
costs attributable 
to security holders 
and minority interest 12,892 89,738

Net result attributable 
to security holders* – 76,707

Basic earnings 
per security – 22.96c

* Due to the finite life and present entitlement clauses contained within

the DUET 1 and DUET 2 Trust Constitutions, upon adoption of

AASB 132 on 1 July 2005, the units in DUET 1 and DUET 2 were

classified as debt for accounting purposes. The Trust Constitutions

of both DUET 1 and DUET 2 were amended on 30 June 2006 such

that the finite life clauses were removed and present entitlement

clauses were amended. Accordingly the units in DUET 1 and DUET 2

are classified as equity for accounting purposes from 30 June 2006.

However, as the units were classified as debt from the period 1 July

2005 to 30 June 2006, the interim and final distributions declared, as

well as the income which accrued to the units in the Trust, have been

accounted for as an expense and presented in the income statement

for the period as a finance cost to security holders, in accordance

with AASB 132.
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–United Energy Distribution Holdings Pty Limited
and its controlled entities (UEDH)
UEDH distributed 7,823 GWh of electricity during
the year.

The Essential Services Commission (ESC)
produced its final regulatory determination for the
period 2006 to 2010. This determination sets the
framework for prices from 2006 to 2010 and the
revised framework applied from 1 January 2006.

UEDH commenced its roll out of interval meters in
2006. The roll out of interval meters is based on a
strategy outlined by the ESC. The ESC is reviewing
the current strategy and has announced its
intention to increase the scope and complexity 
of the strategy. The renewed strategy is expected
to be implemented in 2008 or 2009.

–Multinet Group Holdings Pty Limited and its
controlled entities (MGH)
MGH distributed 59.9 PJ of gas during the year.
Multinet is continuing with its program of pipe
replacement in order to update its gas
distribution system.

–DBNGP Trust and its controlled entities (DBP)
DBP transported 270.8 PJ of gas for the year.
DBP continued with the Stage 4 expansion
project during the year, with $359.8 million of the
approved capital budget of $433.2 million incurred
at 30 June 2006.

During the year, DBP applied to the Gas Review
Board for a review of the Economic Regulation
Authority (ERA) decision to draft and approve its
own revisions to the access arrangement. The
application seeks to review the following aspects
of the ERA’s revised access arrangement:

–the proposed gas quality specification contained
in the terms and conditions of access for
reference services;

–the requirement to include part-haul and back-haul
services as reference services; and

–the requirement to include reference tariffs for
back-haul and part-haul reference services.

Several parties have sought to be made parties to
the application. The hearing of the application is
scheduled for early 2007. In addition, Verve Energy
applied for a review of the ERA’s decision. Its
application focuses on reference tariff issues and
the terms and conditions of the reference services.

In April and May 2006, DBP completed a
$1,230 million refinancing of its senior debt
facilities, with the exception of the $550 million
of floating rate notes negotiated in April 2005.
The refinancing successfully delivered on DBP’s
objectives of improved pricing and general terms
and conditions.

–ANH
DUET’s share of Alinta Network Holdings Pty
Limited’s (ANH) profit for the year was $5.7 million.

Significant Changes in State of Affairs
There have been no significant changes to the state
of affairs of each of the existing businesses DUET
holds an interest in.

Distributions
The distribution for the year ended 30 June 2006
was 23.50 cents per stapled security 
(2005: 22.00 cents per stapled security).

An interim distribution for the year ended 
30 June 2006 of 11.75 cents per stapled security
was paid on 16 February 2006 (2005: 13.50 cents
per stapled security). This consisted of 5.875 cents
per unit from DUET 1 (2005: 6.75 cents per unit)
and 5.875 cents per unit from DUET 2 (2005: 
6.75 cents per unit).

A final distribution of 11.75 cents per stapled
security will be paid on 17 August 2006 (2005: 
8.50 cents per stapled security). This consists of
5.875 cents per unit from DUET 1 (2005: 4.25 cents
per unit) and 5.875 cents per unit from DUET 2
(2005: 4.25 cents per unit).

Events Occurring After Balance Sheet Date
–Acquisition of Duquesne Light Holdings

On 6 July 2006, DUET announced that a DUET and
Macquarie Infrastructure Partners (MIP) led
consortium had executed a Merger Agreement (MA)
to acquire 100% of Duquesne Light Holdings (DLH)
for US$20 per share. DLH is a publicly listed energy
business based in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania USA.
The transaction has a total equity market value of
approximately US$1.59 billion.

DLH provides essential electricity distribution and
transmission to more than 587,000 customers in
and around Pittsburgh. More than 80% of calendar
2005 EBITDA of US$261 million was earned from
regulated activities. DLH has recently filed a rate
case application requesting a total distribution
revenue increase of $144 million and is proposing
to file an application requesting a transmission
revenue increase of $19 million with the US
regulators responsible for setting the regulated
tariffs for these businesses. The determination of
these rate case applications will take effect from
7 January 2007.

DUET’s commitment under the MA is to provide
US$300 million of equity finance, representing a
29% equity interest in the consortium. This is the
largest single equity position in the consortium and
DUET will appoint a director to the Board of the
merger vehicle.
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Of the total committed, on 11 August 2006, DUET
(along with other consortium members) contributed
US$141 million (A$188 million) to subscribe for
8.836 million DLH shares under a placement
equivalent to 9.9% of DLH’s post placement
share capital. DUET contributed US$109 million
(A$145.3 million). On 10 July 2006, DUET
completed placement of 64 million stapled
securities at $2.60 per stapled security to
institutional and sophisticated investors raising
a total of $166.4 million.

The transaction is conditional on obtaining
DLH shareholder and regulatory approvals.
Shareholders are expected to vote on the proposal
before the end of October 2006. Regulatory
approval and financial completion are expected 
in the first quarter of calendar year 2007.

The remainder of DUET’s investment will be funded
by cash and an entitlement issue expected to be
early next year DUET has signed an equity
underwriting agreement with Macquarie Bank
Limited (MBL) for the equity required under the
entitlement offer.

Upon completion, DUET’s investment in DLH will
be accounted for as an associate in accordance
with Note 1(l) to the full financial report.

–DUET Restructure
On 4 August 2006, DUET announced a proposal
to change its current structure. The change will
add an Australian company, DUET Investment
Holdings Limited (DIHL), to the stapled structure.
The purpose of the restructure is to give DUET
greater flexibility in its capital management and
investment strategy. Unitholders approved such a
restructure, in principle, at the General Meeting on
4 November 2005.

As part of the Restructure, DIHL shares will be
distributed to unitholders and stapled to the existing
DUET units. This stapling will create a Triple Stapled
Security made up of one DIHL share, one unit in
DUET 1 and one unit in DUET 2. The restructure has
no financial impact on the DUET Group.

–DUET Dividend
A final distribution of 11.75 cents per stapled
security was paid by DUET on 17 August 2006. 
This consists of a distribution of 5.875 cents per unit
from DUET 1 and 5.875 cents per unit from DUET 2.

A portion of stapled security holders participated in
DUET’s Distribution Reinvestment Plan paid on
17 August 2006. Of the distribution declared,
$7.6 million will be reinvested in DUET.

With the exception of the above, the directors
are not aware of any matter or circumstance not
otherwise dealt with in the financial report that has
occurred since the period end that has significantly
affected the operations of DUET 1, DUET 2, and the
DUET Group or the state of their affairs in periods
subsequent to the year ending 30 June 2006.

Likely Developments and Expected Results
of Operations
Further information on likely developments relating
to the operations of DUET 1, DUET 2 and the DUET
Group in future years and the expected results of
those operations has not been included in this report
because the directors of the Responsible Entities
believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable
prejudice to the Trusts and the DUET Group.

Indemnification and Insurance of Officers
and Auditors
During the year the Responsible Entities paid a
premium to insure the officers of the Responsible
Entities. So long as the officers of the Responsible
Entities act in accordance with the Constitutions
and the law, the officers remain indemnified out of
the assets of the Trusts and the DUET Group
against any losses incurred while acting on behalf
of the Trusts and the DUET Group. The auditors 
of the Trust and the DUET Group are in no way
indemnified out of the assets of the Trusts and 
the DUET Group.

Fees Paid to the Responsible Entity 
and Associates
Fees paid to the Responsible Entity and its
associates out of DUET 1 and the DUET Group’s
property are disclosed in Note 31 in the full
Financial Statements. No fees were paid by
DUET 1 or the DUET Group to the directors of 
the Responsible Entity during the year.

The Responsible Entity does not hold any stapled
securities in DUET at the date of this financial
report (30 June 2005: nil).

Interests in the Trusts and the DUET Group
Issued During the Financial Year
The movement in securities on issue in the Trust and
the DUET Group during the year is set out below:

1 July 2005 1 July 2004
– 30 June 2006 – 30 June 2005

’000 ’000

Securities on issue 
at the beginning 
of the year 421,963 223,763

Securities issued 
during the year 4,606 198,200

Securities on issue 
at the end of the year 426,569 421,963

Value of Assets 30 June 2006 30 June 2005
$’000 $’000

Value of assets 
at 30 June 6,300,296 5,858,560
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Environmental Regulations
–UEDH

UEDH is subject to significant environmental
regulation under the Environmental Protection Act
1970 (Vic). UEDH adheres to environmental
management principles using compliance with
ISO 14001 for proactive planning, sustainable
development and self assessment for continuous
improvement. UEDH did not receive any notices
from the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
for violation of the Act during the period.

An Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) has
been conducted at a property owned by UEDH.
The ESA noted slightly raised levels of copper in
the above ground spoil but this was within the
tolerances of NEPMA requirements. Asbestos
was found in soil samples from the site and
Tetrachlroroethene, a Dense Non-Aqueous Phase
Liquid (DNAPL) was also found. The report
indicates that the Tetrachloroethene may have
flowed from a neighbouring property. At the time
of reporting, progress continues on developing 
a site Environmental Management Plan and
completing an Asbestos Quantitative Risk
Assessment for the site.

–MGH
MGH is subject to significant environmental
regulation under the Environmental Protection Act
1970 (Vic). MGH adheres to environmental
management principles using compliance with
ISO 14001 for proactive planning, sustainable
development and self assessment for continuous
improvement. MGH did not receive any notices
from the Environmental Protection Agency for
violation of the Act during 2004, 2005 or to the 
date of signing this report in 2006.

–DBP
Both the DBP Licence and DBP Access Licence
place requirements on the DBP Group as operator
of the pipeline. Environmental obligations are
identified and managed through the DBP Group’s
Environmental Management Plan, which sets 
out procedures for necessary restoration work
associated with operations and construction.

The directors are not aware of any material
breaches to the environmental regulations
discussed above.

Directors’ and Other Staff Holdings 
of Stapled Securities
The aggregate number of DUET stapled securities
and POWERS units held directly, indirectly or
beneficially by directors or their director related
entities at the date of this financial report are:

Stapled Stapled 
securities Securities in securities Securities in 

in DUET POWERS in DUET POWERS
2006 2006 2005 2005

Director

Philip Garling 55,000 1,800 55,000 1,800

John Roberts 1,349,768 – 1,187,658 –

Emma Stein 23,000 – 23,000 –

Dr Paul Moy – – – –

The Hon Michael Lee – – – –

Douglas Halley 10,000 – – –

Ron Finlay – – – –

Duncan Sutherland 80,000 – 80,000 –

Eric Goodwin 20,407 – 17,956 –

Refer to Note 31 in the full Financial Statements for further details.

Employees of MBL and AMPCH (including those who are directors) associated with the management 
of DUET, also hold stapled securities in DUET at the date of this report.
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration
as required under section 327C of the Corporations
Act 2001 is set out on page 55.

Rounding of Amounts in the Directors’ Report
and the Financial Report
The Trust, a registered scheme, and the DUET
Group, are of a kind referred to in Class Order
98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and
Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding
off” of amounts in the directors’ report and financial
report. Amounts in the directors’ report and
financial report have been rounded off to the
nearest thousand dollars in accordance with 
that Class Order, unless otherwise indicated.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution
of directors of AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 1 Limited and AMPCI Macquarie
Infrastructure Management No. 2.

Philip Garling
Director
Sydney

28 August 2006

John Roberts
Director
Sydney

28 August 2006

Directors’ Report
continued



Auditor’s Independence Declaration

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of the Responsible Entities of 
Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No. 1 and Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No. 2

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No. 1, Diversified Utility
and Energy Trust No. 2 and the DUET Group for the year ended 30 June 2006, to the best of our
knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

Michael S Perry
Partner

28 August 2006

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

DUET Group annual report 2006
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2006 2005
Note $’000 $’000

Revenue from continuing operations 2 819,792 772,018
Share of net profit of associates accounted for using the equity method 5,686 5,028
Operating expenses 2 (261,640) (243,109)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 2 (135,648) (129,162)
Finance costs excluding cost attributable to security holders and minority interests 2 (301,955) (268,780)
Other expenses 2 (38,511) (21,221)
Total expenses from continuing activities (737,754) (662,272)
Net profit from continuing activities before income tax expense and finance 
costs attributable to security holders and minority interests 87,724 114,774
Income tax expense (19,627) (25,036)
Net profit from continuing activities after income tax expense and before 
finance costs attributable to security holders and minority interests 68,097 89,738
Finance costs attributable to unitholders* (56,401) –
Finance costs attributable to minority interests 1,196 –
Net profit 12,892 89,738
Attributable to:
DUET Security Holders – 76,707
Minority Interests 12,892 13,031

12,892 89,738
Basic earnings per stapled security 4 – 22.96c

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

* Due to the finite life and present entitlement clauses contained within the DUET 1 and DUET 2 Trust Constitutions, upon adoption of AASB 132 on 1 July 2005, the units in

DUET 1 and DUET 2 were classified as debt for accounting purposes. The Trust Constitutions of both DUET 1 and DUET 2 were amended on 30 June 2006 such that the

finite life clauses were removed and present entitlement clauses were amended. Accordingly the units in DUET 1 and DUET 2 are classified as equity for accounting

purposes from 30 June 2006. However, as the units were classified as debt from the period 1 July 2005 to 30 June 2006, the interim and final distributions declared, as

well as the income which accrued to the units in the Trust, have been accounted for as an expense and presented in the income statement for the period as a finance cost

to security holders, in accordance with AASB 132.

Income Statement
Year ended 30 June 2006



30 June 2006 30 June 2005
Note $’000 $’000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 295,999 188,343
Receivables 75,124 62,996
Inventories 11,223 11,414
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 2,293 –
Other 39,295 76,776
Total current assets 423,934 339,530
Non-current assets
Receivables 81,929 79,882
Investment in associated entities using equity accounting method 27,078 23,474
Property, plant and equipment 3,707,415 3,336,232
Deferred tax assets 10,204 15,014
Intangible assets 1,997,756 2,015,152
Derivative Financial Instruments 51,740 –
Other 240 49,276
Total non-current assets 5,876,362 5,519,030
Total assets 6,300,296 5,858,560
Current liabilities
Payables 231,149 161,402
Distribution payable 50,123 35,868
Interest bearing liabilities 3 27,500 22,750
Provisions 2,573 7,734
Current tax liabilities 2,509 –
Other 12,525 10,411
Total current liabilities 326,379 238,165
Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities 3 4,274,769 4,091,488
Deferred tax liabilities 548,846 519,479
Derivative Financial Instruments 64,744 –
Provisions 15,588 16,498
Retirement benefit obligations 240 6,789
Other – 10,129
Total non-current liabilities excluding minority interests classified as debt 4,904,187 4,644,383
Total liabilities excluding minority interests classified as debt 5,230,566 4,882,548
Net assets excluding minority interests classified as debt 1,069,730 976,012
Non-current liability attributable to minority interests
Minority interests units 123,269 –
Total non-current liability attributable to minority interests 123,269 –
Net assets 946,461 976,012
Equity
DUET security holders’ interest
Contributed equity 921,795 910,822
Reserves 26,214 –
Undistributed (losses)/profit (71,461) (46,206)
Total DUET security holders’ interest 876,548 864,616
Minority interest 69,913 111,396
Total equity 946,461 976,012

The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2006
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1 July 2005 1 July 2004
– 30 June 2006 – 30 June 2005

$’000 $’000

Total equity at the beginning of the financial year 976,012 475,580
Adjustments on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139, net of tax to*:
Equity (910,822) –
Retained profits 46,206 –
Reserves (9,040) –
Minority interest (51,531) –
Total equity at 1 July 50,825 475,580
Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax 46,365 –
Net income recognised directly in equity 46,365 –
Profit for the year 12,892 89,738
Total recognised income and expense for the year 59,257 89,738
Transactions equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:
Transfer of net assets attributable to security holders from liability to equity 850,297 –
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs – 466,996
Dividend paid and provided for to parent equity holders – (91,413)
Dividends and distributions provided for or paid to minority interests (10,326) (10,837)
Increased interest in subsidiaries obtained during the year (3,592) –
Minority interest on acquisition of subsidiary – 45,948
Total equity at the end of the financial year 946,461 976,012
Total recognised income and expense for the year is attributable to:
Parent shareholders – 76,707
Minority interest 12,892 13,031

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

* Due to the finite life and present entitlement clauses contained within the DUET 1 and DUET 2 Trust Constitutions, upon adoption of AASB 132 on 1 July 2005, the units in

DUET 1 and DUET 2 were classified as debt for accounting purposes. The Trust Constitutions of both DUET 1 and DUET 2 were amended on 30 June 2006 such that the

finite life clauses were removed. Accordingly the units in DUET 1 and DUET 2 are classified as equity for accounting purposes from 30 June 2006.

Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 30 June 2006



2006 2005
$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers (including GST) 863,691 827,273
Payments to suppliers and employees (including GST) (335,332) (295,279)
Income tax received/(paid) – 5,280
Interest received 18,457 13,081
Dividends received 3,923 4,674
Net cash flows from operating activities 550,739 555,029
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for software (5,137) –
Payment for purchase of controlled entities, net of cash acquired – (1,845,845)
Payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment (432,674) (166,068)
Costs associated with purchase of controlled entities – (19,523)
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 1,526 1,713
Net cash flows from investing activities (436,285) (2,029,723)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of units – 417,433
Proceeds from minority interest 91,162 56,378
Payments for capital raising costs – (17,580)
Proceeds from issue of reset preference shares (POWERS) – 155,000
Proceeds from borrowing from external parties 2,386,800 2,572,050
Repayment of borrowings from external parties (2,084,333) (1,181,293)
Borrowings from bridge financing – 514,000
Repayment of bridge financing facility – (514,000)
Finance costs paid (309,340) (329,096)
Dividends paid to minority interest (18,142) (10,225)
Distributions paid (74,717) (54,758)
Net cash flow from financing activities (8,570) 1,607,909
Net increase/(decrease) in cash assets held 105,884 133,215
Cash assets at the beginning of the period 188,343 55,128
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,772
Cash assets at the end of the period 295,999 188,343

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Cash Flow Statement
Year ended 30 June 2006
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Discussion and Analysis of Results

Financial Performance
Operating Performance
The net profit before finance costs attributable to
security holders and minority interests for DUET
and its consolidated entities for the year ended
30 June 2006 is a profit of $68.1 million (2005:
$89.7 million). The net profit after finance costs
attributable to DUET security holders for the year
ended 30 June 2006 is nil (2005: $76.7 million).

Revenue (refer Note 2)
The total revenue for the year was $819.8 million
(2005: $772.0 million), comprising the following:

–Distribution revenue of $514.2 million 
(2005: $524.6 million). The decrease for the 
current year reflects the decrease in revenue 
for UEDH of $14.2 million and the increase in
revenue for MGH of $3.1 million.

–Metering revenue of $27.2 million 
(2005: $27.9 million).

–Transportation revenue of $206.6 million 
(2005: $177.4 million). The increased revenue 
is due to the full year impact of DBP during the 
year offset by a decrease in revenue from the 
Alcoa exempt contract. In the prior year only 
eight months of DBP was included.

–Other sales revenue of $28.9 million (2005:
$13.2 million) mainly due to increased customer
contribution revenue and additional government
incentives.

–Interest income of $7.3 million (2005: $7.3 million).

–Other revenue of $34.0 million (2005: $20.0 million).
The increased revenue is predominately related 
to customer contribution revenue at DBP.

Share of net profit of associates
Share of net profit of associates accounted for
using the equity method for the year was
$5.7 million (2005: $5.0 million). This represents 
the Group’s 25.9% share of the net profits after tax
generated by Alinta Network Holdings Pty Limited.

Total revenue and share of associates’ profits was
offset by the following operating expenses
recognised during the year:

Operating expenses (refer Note 2)
Operating expenses of $261.6 million were incurred
during the year (2005: $243.1 million) and included
the following:

–Operating fees of $222.5 million 
(2005: $225.6 million). The decrease for the
current year primarily reflects the decrease in
UEDH of $6.1 million offset by an increase in DBP
due to the current year containing a full year of
expenses for DBP.

–Other operating expenses of $39.1 million 
(2005: $17.5 million). The increase for the current
year primarily reflects the other operating expenses
from DBP.

Other expenses (refer Note 2)
Other expenses of $38.5 million were incurred
during the year (2005: $21.2 million) and included
the following:

–Impairment of properties held for sale $3.5 million
(2005: nil). This relates to a write down of land 
held for resale at DBP.

–Management fees of $19.8 million 
(2005: $8.2 million). The increase for the current
year reflects management fees being paid to 
the Responsible Entities based on 1% of the 
net investment value of DUET. A performance 
fee of $8.8 million was paid to the Responsible
Entities (2005: nil).

Depreciation and amortisation expense
(refer Note 1(h), (i), Note 2)

–Amortisation of intangible assets was $25.4 million
(2005: $26.6 million) for the year.

–Depreciation of property, plant and equipment was
$110.2 million (2005: $102.6 million). This consisted
of $32.6 million from DBP, $24.9 million from MGH
and $52.7 million from UEDH.

Finance costs (refer Note 1(j), Note 2 and Note 3)
–Finance costs of $302.0 million (2005: $268.8 million)

were incurred during the year. This includes
$22.8 million (2005: $13.5 million) of amortisation
of borrowing costs. The increase predominantly
relates to borrowing costs associated with DBP
of $30.5 million.

Income Tax
–Under the Income Tax Assessment Acts, DUET 1

and DUET 2 are not liable for income tax provided
that the taxable income is fully distributed to
stapled security holders each year.

–Income tax in relation to the assets consolidated 
by DUET has been brought to account using the
balance sheet approach.

Minority Interests
–Minority equity interests in the net result of

$12.9 million represents the net results of DBP,
UEDH and MGH attributable to minority interests
(2005: $13.0 million).

Earnings per Stapled Security (refer Note 4)
–The basic earnings per stapled security before

finance costs attributable to unitholders and
minority interest for the Group was 16.03 cents 
per stapled security (2005: 22.96 cents per stapled
security). The basic earnings per stapled security
after finance costs is nil (2005: 22.96 cents per
stapled security).

–The weighted average number of shares on issue
used in the calculation of the earnings per stapled
security is 424.6 million (2005: 334.1 million).
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Financial Position
Assets

–At 30 June 2006, total assets of DUET were
$6,300.3 million (2005: $5,858.6 million).

–Property, plant and equipment of $3,707.4 million
(2005: $3,336.2 million) included $5.4 million of
land (2005: $7.4 million), $5.6 million of buildings
(2005: $10.2 million), $3,318.6 million of plant and
equipment (2005: $3,235.2 million), $11.9 million
of other property, plant and equipment 
(2005: $12.8 million) and $366.0 million of plant 
and equipment in the course of construction 
(2005: $70.7 million). The increased property,
plant and equipment at 30 June 2006 compared
to 30 June 2005 primarily reflects fixed assets
acquired as part of the DBP Stage 4
expansion project.

–Intangible assets of $1,997.8 million 
(2005: $2,015.2 million) comprise $108.5 million
of intellectual property (2005: $114.9 million),
$1,035.4 million of distribution licences 
(2005: $1,035.4 million), $825.0 million of goodwill
(2005: $825.0 million) and $28.9 million of software
assets (2005: $39.8 million).

Liabilities
–At 30 June 2006, total liabilities excluding 

minority interests classified as debt of DUET 
were $5,230.6 million (2005: $4,882.5 million).

–The increase in liabilities is largely additional
interest bearing liabilities (refer to Note 3).

–Minority interest units classified as debt were
$123.3 million (2005: nil).

Equity
–At 30 June 2006, total equity of DUET was

$946.5 million (2005: $976.0 million).

–$69.9 million represents the net assets of DBP,
UEDH and MGH attributable to minority interests
(2005: $111.4 million).

–Contributed equity is $921.8 million (2005:
$910.8 million). The increase is due to additional
stapled securities issued as part of the distribution
reinvestment plan.

–Reserves are $26.2 million (2005: nil). This
represents cash flow hedges measured in
accordance with IFRS.

Net Asset Backing
–The net asset backing per stapled security at 

30 June 2006 is $2.22 (2005: $2.31).

Statement of Cash Flows
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

–Cash flows from operating activities have
decreased $4.3 million from $555.0 million in the
prior year to $550.7 million in the current year.

–The decrease reflects the operating revenue 
and payments to suppliers and is due to timing.

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities
–Cash outflows from investing activities have

decreased $1,593.4 million from $2,029.7 million 
in the prior year to $436.3 million in the current year.

–The decrease predominantly reflects payments
associated with the DBP acquisition in the prior
year offset by increased payment for fixed assets
associated with the Stage 4 expansion at DBP.

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities
–Net cash flows from financing activities have

decreased $1,616.5 million from cash inflows of
$1,607.9 million in the prior year to cash outflows 
of $8.6 million in the current year.

–Cash flows in the prior year included borrowings
from external parties associated with DBP
acquisition and the proceeds from DUET’s 
and POWER’s capital raising.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 30 June 2006

Note 1. Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies which have been
adopted in the preparation of the financial statements
are stated to assist in a general understanding of this
general purpose financial report.

(a) Basis of Preparation
The concise financial report has been prepared as 
if DUET were a disclosing entity required to comply
with the Corporations Act 2001 and Accounting
Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports.
The concise financial report has been derived from
the DUET full financial report for the year. Other
information included in the concise financial report
is consistent with DUET’s full financial report. The
concise financial report does not, and cannot be
expected to, provide as full an understanding of 
the financial performance, financial position and,
financing and investing activities of DUET as the 
full financial report.

The accounting policies adopted in preparing the
financial report have been consistently applied to
all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

Application of AASB 1 First-time Adoption of
Australian Equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards
This financial report is the first DUET 1, DUET 2 
and the DUET Group financial report to be
prepared in accordance with Australian Equivalents
to International Financial Reporting Standards
(AIFRS). AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards has been applied in preparing these
financial statements.

Financial statements of DUET 1, DUET 2 and the
DUET Group until 30 June 2005 had been prepared
in accordance with previous Australian Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP). AGAAP
differs in certain respects from AIFRS. When
preparing the DUET 1, DUET 2 and the DUET
Group financial report for the year ended 30 June
2005, management has amended certain
accounting, valuation and consolidation methods
applied in the previous AGAAP financial statements
to comply with AIFRS. The comparative figures are
restated to reflect these adjustments.

DUET 1, DUET 2 and the DUET Group have taken
the exemption available under AASB 1 to apply
AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 2005. DUET
has applied previous AGAAP in the comparative
information on financial instruments within the
scope of AASB 132 and AASB 139.

Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect 
of transition from previous AGAAP to AIFRS on
equity and its net profit are given in Note 8.

Standards, interpretations and amendments 
to be published that are not yet effective
Certain new standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards have been
published that are mandatory for the Group for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July
2006 or later periods but which the Group has not
yet adopted. The significant ones are as follows:

–AASB 139 (Amendment, Financial Guarantee
Contracts (effective from 1 July 2006))
This amendment requires issued financial
guarantees to be initially recognised at their fair
value and subsequently measured at the higher 
of the unamortised balance of the related fees
received that have been deferred and the
expenditure required to settle the commitment 
at the balance sheet date. This amendment is 
not expected to have a material impact. This
amendment will be applied from 1 July 2006.

–AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and
a complementary amendment to AASB 101
Presentation of Financial Statements – Capital
Disclosures (effective 1 July 2007)
AASB 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the
information about financial instruments. It requires
the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative
information about exposure to risks arising from
financial instruments, including specified minimum
disclosures about credit, liquidity and market risk.
This amendment will be applied from 1 July 2007.

Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities
(including derivative instruments) at fair value
through the Income Statement.

Stapled Security
The units of DUET 1 and DUET 2 are combined 
and issued as stapled securities in DUET. The units
of the Trusts cannot be traded separately. This
financial report consists of the consolidated
financial statements of DUET 1, which comprises
DUET 1, DUET 2 and the entities they control,
together acting as DUET.

(b) Consolidated Accounts
UIG 1013 Consolidated Financial Reports in
relation to Pre-Date-of-Transition Stapling
Arrangements requires one of the stapled entities
of an existing stapled structure to be identified 
as the parent entity for the purpose of preparing
consolidated financial reports. In accordance 
with this requirement DUET 1 has been identified
as the parent of the consolidated group comprising
DUET 1 and DUET 2 and the entities they control
acting as Diversified Utility and Energy Trusts
(DUET or the Group).



62 63

(c) Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the assets and liabilities of the entities controlled 
by DUET 1 and DUET 2 at 30 June 2006, including
those deemed to be controlled by DUET 1 by
identifying it as the parent of DUET on transition to
AIFRS, and the results of those controlled entities
for the period then ended. The effects of all
transactions between entities in the consolidated
entity are eliminated in full. Minority interests in 
the results and equity are shown separately in 
the Income Statement and the Balance Sheet
respectively. Minority interests are those interests
in partly owned subsidiaries which are not held
directly or indirectly by DUET 1 or DUET 2.

Where control of an entity is obtained during a
financial period, its results are included in the
Income Statement from the date on which control
commences. Where control of an entity ceases
during a financial period, its results are included for
that part of the period during which control existed.

(d) Segment Reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and
operations engaged in providing products or
services that are subject to risks and returns that
are different to those of other business segments.
A geographical segment is engaged in providing
products or services within a particular economic
environment and is subject to risks and returns that
are different from those of segments operating in
other economic environments.

(e) Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised for the major business
activities as follows:

–Distribution electricity revenue
Distribution electricity revenue earned from the 
use of the distribution network is recognised when
electricity and related services are provided.
Accrued distribution electricity revenue is
determined having regard to the period since a
customer’s last billing date and the customer’s
previous consumption patterns. Distribution
electricity revenue includes the cost of
transmission services charged by the transmission
companies, which is passed onto the customers.

–Distribution gas revenue
Distribution gas revenue earned from the use of the
distribution network is recognised when gas and
related services are provided. Accrued distribution
gas revenue is determined having regard to the
period since a customer’s last billing date and 
the customer’s previous consumption patterns.

–Gas transmission revenue
Gas transmission revenue is brought to account
when gas is transported for a shipper in
accordance with the terms and conditions of 
the haulage contract.

–Asset sales
The net proceeds on disposal of assets is brought
to account at the date when control passes to the
purchaser, usually when an unconditional contract
of sale is signed.

–Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
group and the revenue can be reliably measured.
Interest income is brought to account on an
accruals basis using the effective interest method.

–Dividend and distribution revenue
Dividend and Trust distributions are recognised
as income on the date the share or unit becomes
ex-dividend or ex-distribution.

–Other revenue
Other operating revenue is brought to account as 
it is earned and is recognised when the goods and
services are provided.

–Customer contributions
Non-refundable contributions and in kind assets
received from customers towards the cost of
extending or modifying the electricity or gas
distribution networks, whether on existing or new
assets, are recognised as revenue and an asset
once control is gained of the contribution, or asset.

(f) Income Tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the income tax rate adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements, and to unused
tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised 
for temporary differences at the tax rates expected
to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities
are settled, based on those tax rates which are
enacted or substantively enacted for each
jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to 
the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable
temporary differences arising from the initial
recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred tax
asset or liability is recognised in relation to these
temporary differences if they arose in a transaction,
other than a business combination, that at the time
of the transaction did not affect either accounting
profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses if 
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Year ended 30 June 2006

Note 1. Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies continued

(f) Income Tax continued
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
controlled entities where the parent entity is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income tax has not been brought to account in
respect of DUET 1 and DUET 2 as pursuant to 
the Income Tax Assessment Acts, the Trusts are
not liable for income tax to the extent that their
taxable income (including any assessable realised
capital gains) is fully distributed to their unitholders
each year.

Some subsidiaries of the Group are liable for
income tax and have implemented the tax
consolidation legislation to their wholly owned
groups.

(g) Impairment of Assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Assets that are subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the net
amount expected to be recovered through the
cash inflows and outflows arising from its
continued use and subsequent disposal. 
Where net cash inflows are derived from a group 
of assets working together, recoverable amount 
is determined on the basis of the relevant group 
of assets. In determining recoverable amount, the
expected net cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a market determined, asset
specific, risk adjusted rate.

The decrement in the carrying amount is
recognised as an expense in the net profit or loss 
in the reporting year in which the recoverable
amount write down occurs.

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
value. The cost of plant and equipment
constructed by the consolidated entity includes the
cost of materials and direct labour and a proportion
of fixed and variable overheads.

–Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis
to write off the net cost or revalued amount of each
item of property, plant and equipment (excluding
land) over its expected useful life to the
consolidated entity. Estimates of remaining useful
lives are made on a regular basis for all assets, 
with annual reassessments for major items. 
The expected useful lives are as follows:

Category Useful life

Buildings 6 to 40 years

Plant and equipment 1 to 60 years

Motor vehicles 4 to 10 years

Office equipment 3 to 15 years

Furniture, fixtures and fittings 1 to 12 years

Where items of plant and equipment have
separately identifiable components which are
subject to regular replacement, those components
are assigned useful lives distinct from the item of
plant and equipment to which they relate.

Major spares purchased specifically for particular
plant are capitalised and depreciated on the same
basis as the plant to which they relate.

Assets in the course of construction are not subject
to depreciation until they are put into use.

–Impairment
The carrying values of plant and equipment are
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not
be recoverable. If any such indication exists and
where the carrying values exceed the estimated
recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating
units are written down to their recoverable amount.
Refer Note 1(g).

(i) Intangible Assets
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase
consideration over the fair value of identifiable 
net assets acquired at the time of acquisition 
of a business or securities in a controlled entity.
Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

(ii) Identifiable intangible assets
Identifiable intangible assets acquired separately are
capitalised at cost and from a business combination
are capitalised at fair value as at the date of
acquisition. Following initial recognition, the cost
model is applied to the class of intangible assets.
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The useful lives of these intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Where
amortisation is charged on assets with finite lives,
this expense is taken to the income statement
through the “depreciation and amortisation
expenses” line item. Intangible assets, excluding
development costs, created within the business
are not capitalised and expenditure is charged
against profits in the year in which the expenditure
is incurred.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an
indicator of impairment exists, and in the case of
indefinite lived intangibles annually, either individually
or at the cash generating unit level. Useful lives are
also examined on an annual basis and adjustments,
where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.
A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s
intangible assets is as follows:

Licences Software Intellectual Property

Useful lives Indefinite Finite Finite

Method used Not depreciated
or revalued 3 to 5 years straight line 20 years – Straight line

Internally 
generated/
acquired Acquired Acquired Internally generated/acquired

Impairment Annually and Amortisation method reviewed Amortisation method reviewed 
test/recoverable where an at each financial year-end; at each financial year-end;
amount testing indicator of Reviewed annually for Indicator Reviewed annually for Indicator 

impairment of Impairment of Impairment
exists

(iii) Research and development costs
Expenditure on research activities undertaken
with the prospect of obtaining new scientific 
or technical knowledge and understanding is
recognised in the Income Statement as an
expense when it is incurred.

Development expenditure incurred on an
individual project is carried forward when its future
recoverability can reasonably be regarded
as assured.

Following the initial recognition of the development
expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the
asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Any expenditure carried forward is amortised over
the period of expected future revenue from the
related project.

The carrying value of development costs is
reviewed for impairment annually when the asset is
not yet in use, or more frequently when an indicator
of impairment arises during the reporting year
indicating that the carrying value may not be
recoverable.

(j) Interest Bearing Liabilities
–From 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005

Bank loans, guarantee notes and redeemable
preference shares are recognised at the amount 
of the net proceeds received. Interest is recognised
as an expense on an effective yield basis.

Interest bearing liabilities also comprise Preferred
to Ordinary With Exchange and Reset Securities
(POWERS). In accordance with Australian
Accounting Standard AASB 1033 Presentation and
Disclosure of Financial Instruments, POWERS are
classified as a liability of the Trusts and not equity.
These liabilities are recorded at the amount of
consideration received at the date of issue.

The exchange and redemption features are
significant in determining the classification of
POWERS as a liability. POWERS holders may
request exchange of some or all of their POWERS
into stapled equity of DUET in certain
circumstances in accordance with the POWERS
terms. If the Responsible Entity of the POWERS
Trust receives a valid Exchange Notice after the
DUET IPO has occurred, the Responsible Entity
must, at its option, do one of the following:

–redeem the POWERS for the redemption amount
for exchange so that the POWERS can be
exchanged for DUET stapled securities; or

–arrange for a third party to acquire the POWERS 
for the redemption amount; or

–redeem and cancel the POWERS for the
redemption amount.

In addition, the POWERS are compulsorily
redeemable on the tenth anniversary of their date 
of issue for an amount calculated in accordance
with the POWERS Terms.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Year ended 30 June 2006

Note 1. Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies continued

(j) Interest Bearing Liabilities continued
–From 1 July 2005

Bank loans, guaranteed notes and redeemable
preference shares are recognised at cost, being fair
value of the consideration received net of issue
costs associated with the borrowing. After initial
recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Amortised 
cost is calculated by taking into account any issue
costs, and any discount premium on settlement.
The consolidated entity enters into derivatives on
interest bearing liabilities. The accounting policies
are as described in the Derivative financial
instruments Note 1(y) of the full financial report.

Interest bearing liabilities also comprise Preferred
to Ordinary With Exchange and Reset Securities
(POWERS). In accordance with Accounting
Standard AASB 132 Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and Presentation, POWERS are
classified as a liability of the Trusts and not equity.
These liabilities are initially recorded at fair value 
net of transaction costs. Any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption amount is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the POWERS using
the effective interest method.

The exchange and redemption features are
significant in determining the classification of
POWERS as a liability. POWERS holders may
request exchange of some or all of their POWERS
into stapled equity of DUET in certain
circumstances in accordance with the POWERS
terms. If the Responsible Entity of the POWERS
Trust receives a valid Exchange Notice after the
DUET IPO has occurred, the Responsible Entity
must, at its option, do one of the following:

–redeem the POWERS for the redemption amount
for exchange so that the POWERS can be
exchanged for DUET stapled securities; or

–arrange for a third party to acquire the POWERS 
for the redemption amount; or

–redeem and cancel the POWERS for the
redemption amount.

In addition, the POWERS are compulsorily
redeemable on the tenth anniversary of their date 
of issue for an amount calculated in accordance
with the POWERS Terms.

(k) Earnings per Stapled Security
Basic earnings per stapled security is determined
by dividing the profit attributable to unitholders by
the weighted average number of securities on issue
during the year.

(l) Unitholders Funds
Due to the finite life and present entitlement clauses
contained within the DUET 1 and DUET 2 Trust
Constitutions, upon adoption of AASB 132 on
1 July 2005, the units in DUET 1 and DUET 2 were
classified as debt for accounting purposes. The
Trust Constitutions of both DUET 1 and DUET 2
were amended on 30 June 2006 such that the finite
life clauses were removed and distributions were
no longer mandatory but discretionary. Accordingly
the units in DUET 1 and DUET 2 are classified as
equity for accounting purposes from 30 June 2006.

However, as the units were classified as debt from
the period 1 July 2005 to 30 June 2006, the interim
and final distributions declared, as well as the
income which accrued to the units in the Trust,
have been accounted for as an expense and
presented in the income statement for the period
as a finance cost to security holders, in accordance
with AASB 132.

(m) Rounding of Amounts
The Group is of a kind referred to in Class
Order 98/0100 issued by the Australian Securities
and Investments Commission, relating to the
“rounding off” of amounts in the financial report.
Amounts in the financial report have been rounded
off in accordance with that Class Order to the
nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, 
to the nearest dollar.
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2006 2005
Note 2. Net Profit for the Year $’000 $’000

(i) Revenue from continuing operations
Sales revenue
Distribution revenue 514,231 524,611
Metering revenue 27,204 27,910
Transportation revenue 206,564 177,355
New connections revenue 1,626 1,622
Other sales revenue 28,933 13,217

778,558 744,715
Revenue from investments
Interest revenue 7,270 7,271

7,270 7,271
Other revenue
Interest 10,453 6,531
Customer contributions 16,222 4,599
Miscellaneous revenue 7,209 8,902

33,964 20,032
Total revenue from continuing operations 819,792 772,018

(ii) Expenses from continuing operations
Operating expenses
Operating fees 222,530 225,648
Other operating expenses 39,110 17,461

261,640 243,109
Other expenses
Net loss on disposal 13,847 10,594
Management fees 19,817 8,225
Impairment of properties held for sale 3,469 –
Other 1,378 2,402

38,511 21,221
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 110,205 102,555
Amortisation of intangible assets 25,443 26,607

135,648 129,162
Finance costs excluding costs attributable to security holders 
and minority interests
Amortisation of borrowing costs 22,751 13,537
Financing charges – related parties 2,612 2,750
Interest expense

Related parties 16,299 60,841
Other parties 260,293 191,652

301,955 268,780
Total expenses from continuing operations 737,754 662,272
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2006 2005
Note 3. Interest Bearing Liabilities $’000 $’000

Current
Secured
Bank loans 10,000 –

10,000 –
Unsecured
Bank loans 17,500 22,750

17,500 22,750
Total current interest bearing liabilities 27,500 22,750
Non-current
Secured
Bank loans 1,611,000 1,348,000

1,611,000 1,348,000
Unsecured
Bank loans 585,800 730,000
Guaranteed notes 1,459,305 1,347,458
Redeemable preference shares 120,396 120,396
Preferred to Ordinary with Exchange and Reset Securities (POWERS) 547,240 545,634
Other 206 –

4,323,947 4,091,488
Capitalised borrowing costs (49,178) –
Total non-current interest bearing liabilities 4,274,769 4,091,488
Total interest bearing liabilities 4,302,269 4,114,238

– Financing arrangements
At balance date the Group has access to the following lines of credit:

Used at Unused at 
2006 Facility limit 30 June 30 June

DBP
Senior debt

2005 seven year floating rate notes 275,000 275,000 –
2005 12 year floating rate notes 275,000 275,000 –
2006 seven year floating rate notes 325,000 325,000 –
2006 12 year floating rate notes 325,000 325,000 –
Syndicated facility 205,000 205,000 –
Capital expenditure facility 350,000 206,000 144,000
Working capital facility 25,000 17,500 7,500

1,780,000 1,628,500 151,500
UEDH
Senior Subscription Agreement 250,000 150,000 100,000
Capital expenditure facility 200,000 – 200,000
Bank loans – working capital facility 25,000 – 25,000

475,000 150,000 325,000
MGH
Senior corporate facility 455,000 411,000 44,000
Capital expenditure facility 35,000 24,800 10,200
Working capital facility 15,000 10,000 5,000

505,000 445,800 59,200
Total 2,760,000 2,224,300 535,700
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– Financing arrangements
Used at Unused at 

2005 Facility limit 30 June 30 June

DBP
Capital expenditure facility 350,000 – 350,000
Working capital facility 25,000 – 25,000
2005 seven year floating rate notes 275,000 275,000 –
2005 12 year floating rate notes 275,000 275,000 –
Syndicated loan – three year 380,000 380,000 –
Syndicated loan – five year 313,000 313,000 –
Syndicated loan – five year 150,000 105,000 45,000

1,768,000 1,348,000 420,000
UEDH
Senior Subscription Agreement 428,750 320,000 108,750
Capital expenditure facility 10,000 10,000 –
Working capital facility 20,000 – 20,000

458,750 330,000 128,750
MGH
Senior corporate facility 455,000 410,000 45,000
Capex facility 31,250 11,250 20,000
Working capital facility 15,000 1,500 13,500

501,250 422,750 78,500
Total 2,728,000 2,100,750 627,250

–Bank loans
DBP
The capital expenditure facility is for the purpose 
of funding pipeline expansions provided certain
conditions are met. The working capital facility 
is for the purposes of funding general business
expenses.

The floating rate notes are publicly listed AAA debt
securities, with credit support provided by Ambac
Assurance Corporation. The notes were used to
refinance the bridge facility taken out as part of 
the acquisition of the DBP assets.

The syndicated loan facility is provided by a
syndicate of lenders under a Syndicate Facility
Agreement dated 27 October 2004 for the purpose
of acquiring DBP assets. The syndicated loan
facility includes three tranches, including a
revolving tranche.

The above facilities are guaranteed by DBNGP
Holdings Pty Ltd (in its own capacity as trustee of
the DBNGP Trust), DBNGP Compressor Co Pty Ltd
and DBNGP (WA) Nominees Pty Ltd (in its own
capacity as trustee of DBNGP WA Pipeline Trust)
and are secured by charges and mortgages.

UEDH and MGH
The capital expenditure facilities held by UEDH 
and MGH may be drawn at any time to fund eligible
capital expenditure. The working capital facilities
can be used for general business requirements.

–Guaranteed notes
UEDH
US$200 million 5.45% guaranteed notes due April
2016, were issued on 19 November 2003. A further
US$260 million 4.70% guaranteed notes due 
April 2011, were issued on 19 November 2003. 
The notes are unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the group. Interest is paid
semi-annually in arrears on 15 April and 15 October.
The notes are redeemable in whole but not in part.
Scheduled payment of principal and interest on the
notes is guaranteed by an unrelated party.

Long term currency swaps have been entered 
into to convert the US dollar exposure on the
guaranteed notes into an Australian dollar
exposure. The swaps entitle the Group to receive
an agreed amount of US dollars and oblige it to pay
an agreed amount of Australian dollars at the date
of maturity of the guaranteed notes. The value of
the guaranteed notes presented above is after the
impact of the amount payable under the currency
swap agreement.
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As at As at
30 June 2006 30 June 2005

Note 4. Asset Backing and Performance Per Security $ $

Net asset backing of each security 2.22 2.31

1 July 2005 26 June 2004
– 30 June 2006 – 30 June 2005

Earnings per security before finance costs attributable 
to unitholders and minority interest 16.03c 22.96c
Basic earnings per security – 22.96c
Earnings used in calculation of basic earnings per security – 76,707,000
Earnings used in calculation of earnings per security before 
finance costs attributable to unitholding and minority interest 68,097,971 76,707,000
Weighted average number of stapled securities used in calculating 
earnings per stapled security 424,594,718 334,114,416

Note 5. Distributions Paid and Payable 2006 2005
The distributions were paid/payable as follows: $’000 $’000

Interim distribution paid for year ended 30 June 2006: DUET 11.75 cents
per stapled security (2005: DUET 13.50 cents per stapled security) 49,822 55,544

Final distribution proposed and subsequently paid for the year ended 
30 June 2005: DUET 11.75 cents per stapled security (2005: DUET 
8.5 cents per stapled security) 50,123 35,869

99,945 91,413

The franked portion of distributions proposed by DUET at 30 June 2006 was 0.14 cents per stapled
security (2005: 0.35 cents per stapled security). There are no franking credits available for subsequent
financial years.

Note 3. Interest Bearing Liabilities continued

MGH
A$150 million 6.375% fixed rate guaranteed notes
due July 2011, were issued on 29 July 2004.
A$135 million 6.5% fixed rate guaranteed notes
due July 2009, were issued on 29 July 2004.
A further A$100 million floating rate guaranteed
notes due July 2011, were issued on 29 July 2004
at a floating interest rate with a margin above
bank bill rate. The notes are unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Group. Interest
is paid semi-annually in arrears on 29 January and
29 July (for the fixed rate notes) and quarterly on
29 January, 29 April, 29 July and 29 October on
the floating rate notes. Scheduled payment of
principal and interest on the notes is guaranteed
by an unrelated party.

– Redeemable preference shares
The redeemable preference shares are deferred
cumulative preference shares issued by UEDH
that are repayable over a term of 20 years. Interest
is paid semi-annually or at any time a declaration
is made by the board of directors of UEDH. The
interest rate on the shares is 13.5%.

–POWERS
The POWERS have distributions payable in respect
of each six month period ending on 1 March and
1 September each year and otherwise in
accordance with the POWERS Terms. The first
distribution payment date was 1 March 2004 and
was in respect of the period from the issue date until
29 February 2004. The distribution rate in respect of
POWERS for each distribution period until the initial
reset date (1 September 2008) is a floating rate at a
margin of 2.65% above the bank bill rate expressed
as a percentage per annum of the face value of
each POWERS.
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Equity Equity 
holding holding

Country Class of 30 June 30 June 
Note 6. Investments in Controlled Entities of incor- shares/ 2006 2005
Name of Entity Year end poration units %** %

Amistel Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Australia Energy Finance Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Australian Energy Fund No. 2 30 June Australia Ordinary 80.9 80.9
Energy Partnership (Gas) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Energy Partnership (Holdings) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Energy Partnership Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Energy Retail Holdings Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 73.1 73.1
Multinet Gas (DB No1) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Multinet Gas (DB No2) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Multinet Gas Distribution Partnership 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Multinet Gas (IE) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Multinet Group Holdings Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Pacific Indian Energy Services Pty Ltd (PIES) 30 June Australia Ordinary 57.3 57.3
POWERS Trust 30 June Australia Ordinary 100.0 100.0
Power Partnership Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
UEIP Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
United Energy Distribution Holdings Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
United Energy Finance Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
United Energy Finance Trust 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
United Nominee Assets Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
Utilicorp Australia (Gas) Finance Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Utilicorp Australia (Gas) Holdings Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Utilicorp Southern Cross Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9
Utilities Consulting Service Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0
DUET Dampier Bunbury Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 100.0 100.0
DBNGP Trust* 30 June Australia Ordinary 71.8 87.6
DBNGP Holdings Pty Ltd* 30 June Australia Ordinary 71.8 87.6
DBNGP Finance Company Pty Ltd* 30 June Australia Ordinary 71.8 87.6
DBNGP WA Pipeline Trust* 30 June Australia Ordinary 71.8 87.6
DBNGP (WA) Nominees Pty Ltd* 30 June Australia Ordinary 71.8 87.6
DBNGP (WA) Transmission Pty Ltd* 30 June Australia Ordinary 71.8 87.6
DBNGP Compressor Co. Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 71.8 87.6
DBNGP (WA) Finance Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 71.8 87.6

* DUET holds an equity interest of 60% and an economic interest in the operating results of DBP of 71.8%. This will reduce to 60% when

Alinta Limited and Alcoa of Australia Limited make their final payment on their partly paid shares.

** The equity holding is the equity holding of the DUET Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Year ended 30 June 2006

Note 7. Events Occurring After Reporting Date

–Acquisition of Duquesne Light Holdings
On 6 July 2006, DUET announced that a DUET
and Macquarie Infrastructure Partners (MIP) led
consortium had executed a Merger Agreement (MA)
to acquire 100% of Duquesne Light Holdings (DLH)
for US$20 per share. DLH is a publicly listed energy
business based in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania USA.
The transaction has a total equity market value of
approximately US$1.59 billion.

DLH provides essential electricity distribution and
transmission to more than 587,000 customers in
and around Pittsburgh. More than 80% of calendar
2005 EBITDA of US$261 million was earned from
regulated activities. DLH has recently filed a rate
case application requesting a total distribution
revenue increase of $144 million and is proposing
to file an application requesting a transmission
revenue increase of $19 million with the US
regulators responsible for setting the regulated
tariffs for these businesses. The determination of
these rate case applications will take effect from
7 January 2007.

DUET’s commitment under the MA is to provide
US$300 million of equity finance, representing a
29% equity interest in the consortium. This is the
largest single equity position in the consortium and
DUET will appoint two directors to the Board of the
merger vehicle.

Of the total committed, on 11 August 2006, DUET
(along with other consortium members) contributed
US$141 million (A$188 million) to subscribe for
8.836 million DLH shares under a placement
equivalent to 9.9% of DLH’s post placement
share capital. DUET contributed US$109 million
(A$145.3 million). On 10 July 2006, DUET
completed placement of 64 million stapled
securities at $2.60 per stapled security to
institutional and sophisticated investors raising
a total of $166.4 million.

The transaction is conditional on obtaining DLH
shareholder and regulatory approvals. Shareholders
are expected to vote on the proposal before the end
of October 2006. Regulatory approval and financial
completion are expected in the first quarter of
calendar year 2007.

The remainder of DUET’s investment will be funded
by cash and an entitlement issue expected to 
be early next year DUET has signed an equity
underwriting agreement with Macquarie Bank
Limited (MBL) for the equity required under the
entitlement offer.

Upon completion, DUET’s investment in DLH will
be accounted for as an associate in accordance
with Note 1(l) to the full financial report.

–DUET Restructure
On 4 August 2006, DUET announced a proposal
to change its current structure. The change will
add an Australian company, DUET Investment
Holdings Limited (DIHL), to the stapled structure.
The purpose of the restructure is to give DUET
greater flexibility in its capital management and
investment strategy. Unitholders approved such 
a restructure, in principle, at the General Meeting
on 4 November 2005.

As part of the Restructure, DIHL shares will be
distributed to Unitholders and stapled to the existing
DUET units. This stapling will create a Triple Stapled
Security made up of one DIHL share, one unit in
DUET 1 and one unit in DUET 2. The restructure has
no financial impact on the DUET Group.

–DUET Dividend
A final distribution of 11.75 cents per stapled
security was paid by DUET on 17 August 2006. 
This consists of a distribution of 5.875 cents per unit
from DUET 1 and 5.875 cents per unit from DUET 2.

A portion of stapled unitholders participated in
DUET’s Distribution Reinvestment Plan paid on
17 August 2006. Of the distribution declared,
$7.6 million will be reinvested in DUET.

With the exception of the above, the directors are
not aware of any matter or circumstance not
otherwise dealt with in the financial report that has
occurred since the period end that has significantly
affected the operations of DUET 1, DUET 2, and the
DUET Group or the state of their affairs in periods
subsequent to the year ending 30 June 2006.

Note 8. Impact of Adopting Australian
Equivalents to IFRS

(A) Impact of Adopting AIFRS
The adoption of AIFRS has resulted in adjustments
in the following areas:

(a) Goodwill – no longer amortised
The goodwill recognised by DUET when it acquired
DBP, UEDH and MGH is no longer amortised over 
a pre-determined period but subject to an annual
impairment test (or sooner where there is evidence
of impairment). The full amount of impairment
losses are recognised in the income statement in
the year the impairment arises. Additionally, AIFRS
prohibits the reversal of a previous impairment to
goodwill. The effect of this change is:

(i) At 30 June 2005
For DUET, intangible assets is increased by
$22,645,000 and amortisation expense reduced 
by the same amount.
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(b) Restatement of Business Combinations
On 23 July 2003 the DUET Group acquired the
UEDH and MGH businesses in Victoria. DUET has
elected to apply AASB 3 Business Combinations
to these acquisitions and as a result of revaluations
of assets allowed under this standard, additional
goodwill, deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities were recognised.

(i) At 1 July 2004
For DUET, goodwill increased by $138,146,000,
and deferred tax liabilities increased by
$138,146,000.

(ii) At 30 June 2005
For DUET, goodwill increased by $138,146,000,
and deferred tax liabilities increased by
$138,146,000.

(c) Pension plan and employee benefits
Under AIFRS surpluses and deficits are 
recognised in relation to employer sponsored
pension plans. MGH and UEDH have defined
benefit superannuation plans, the obligation for
these plans is managed by AAM under a provision
for services agreement.

(i) At 1 July 2004
For DUET, other assets increased by $423,000 
and other liabilities increased by $423,000.

(ii) At 30 June 2005
For DUET, other assets increased by $6,789,000
and other liabilities increased by $6,789,000.

(d) Provisions
Under AIFRS provisions can only be recognised
when an entity has a present obligation as a result
of a past obligating event. As a result the
restructuring provision recognised in DBP would
not have been recognised and goodwill would 
have been reduced and any costs associated 
with restructuring would have been expensed.

(i) At 30 June 2005
During the period costs previously offset against
the provisions of $864,000 were expensed to the
Income Statement.

(e) Separately identifiable intangible assets
AASB 138 Intangible Assets requires intangible
assets that can be separately identified to be
recorded as such. Purchased software meets this
definition and therefore has been reallocated from
PP&E to Intangibles.

(i) At 1 July 2004
For DUET, intangible assets is increased by
$53,640,000 and property plant and equipment
is reduced by the same amount which represents
the amortised costs of purchased software for
the group.

(ii) At 30 June 2005
For DUET, intangible assets is increased by
$39,838,000 and property, plant and equipment
is reduced by the same amount which represents
the amortised costs of purchased software for
the group.

(f) Other assets
AASB 138 Intangible Assets does not allow the
capitalisation of the Gas Access Arrangement
Review Costs which were previously capitalised
and amortised over their life in MGH. All expenditure
in relation to the Gas Access Arrangement Review
will be expensed as incurred. The balance 
of $1,109,000 was removed at 1 July 2004. 
At 30 June 2005 $370,000 was removed from
amortisation expense and adjusted against
other assets.

(g) Income tax – balance sheet approach
Under AIFRS a “Balance sheet approach” is used
to determine deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities, which requires a comparison between the
carrying amount and the tax base for each asset
and liability.

(i) At 1 July 2004
For DUET, intangible assets, decreased by
$12,104,000 and deferred tax liability decreased by
the same amount. Deferred tax assets increased by
$1,407,000 and deferred tax liability increased by
the same amount. Retained earnings decreased by
$3,435,000 and deferred tax liability increased by
the same amount.

(ii) At 30 June 2005
For DUET, intangible assets, decreased by
$19,197,000 and deferred tax liability decreased by
the same amount. Retained earnings decreased by
$8,902,000 and deferred tax liability increased by
the same amount.

(h) Business combinations and stapling
arrangements
DUET was required to apply AASB 3 Business
Combinations to account for all transactions that
resulted in a new business combination after 1 July
2004. DUET was required to identify an acquirer
(being DUET 1 or DUET 2) and consolidate the
assets and liabilities of the other.

Under UIG 1013 Consolidated Financial Reports 
in relation to Pre-Date-of-Transition Stapling
Arrangements, DUET has identified DUET 1 which
consolidates the remaining stapled entity. The
consolidated financial report of the deemed parent
will represent the consolidated net assets of all
entities within the DUET Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Note 8. Impact of Adopting Australian
Equivalents to IFRS continued

(A) Impact of Adopting AIFRS continued
(i) Effect of changes made to retained earnings
All adjustments to DBP, MGH and UEDH retained
earnings in respect of the transition to AIFRS
impact the minority interest. Adjustments to ANH’s
retained earnings in respect of the transition to
AIFRS impact the equity accounting profits in
DUET. The effects of these changes are:

(i) At 1 July 2004
For DUET at 1 July 2004 minority interest was
decreased by $1,141,000 and retained earnings
was increased by the same amount.

For DUET IFRS adjustments recorded in ANH 
for the same period had the effect of decreasing
DUET’s investment by $22,709,000 and reducing
retained earnings by the same amount.

(ii) At 30 June 2005
Minority interests increased by $636,000 and 
the offset was against retained earnings.

For DUET IFRS adjustments recorded in ANH 
had the effect of increasing DUET’s investment 
by $21,862,000 and increasing retained earnings 
by the same amount.

(j) Consistent accounting policies
In accordance with AASB 1 First-time Adoption 
of Australian Equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards (AASB 1), DUET is required 
to use the same accounting policies in its opening
AIFRS balance sheet and throughout all periods
presented in its first AIFRS report. As a result,
DUET 1 and DUET 2 have restated the comparative
balance sheet at 1 July 2004 for the change in
accounting policy for the measurement of
investments.

This change was reflected in the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2005 under AGAAP but
not for reports with a period end before that date.
The previous policy was to account for investments
at net market value. The revised policy is to account
for investments using the equity method.

(i) At 1 July 2004
For DUET 1 and DUET 2, other financial assets
have decreased by $147,645,000, investments in
associated entities have increased by $90,964,000
and retained earnings have decreased by
$56,681,000.
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(B) Reconciliation of Equity Reported Under Previous GAAP to Equity Under IFRS
(i) At the date of transition to IFRS: 1 July 2004

DUET 1 GROUP

Effect of 
transition 

Previous GAAP to IFRS IFRS
Note ’000 ’000 ’000

Current assets
Cash 55,128 – 55,128
Receivables 58,932 – 58,932
Inventories 3,369 – 3,369
Other assets 37,386 – 37,386
Total current assets 154,815 – 154,815
Non-current assets
Receivables 79,930 – 79,930
Investment in associated entities using 
equity accounting method i, j 45,824 (22,709) 23,115
Property, plant and equipment e 1,850,979 (53,640) 1,797,339
Intangible assets b, e, g 1,137,953 179,682 1,317,635
Deferred tax assets g 25,791 1,407 27,198
Other assets c, f 11,249 (686) 10,563
Total non-current assets 3,151,726 104,054 3,255,780
Total assets 3,306,541 104,054 3,410,595
Current liabilities
Payables 78,534 – 78,534
Distribution and dividend payable 24,437 – 24,437
Interest bearing liabilities – – –
Provisions 12,295 – 12,295
Total current liabilities 115,266 – 115,266
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 7,075 – 7,075
Interest bearing liabilities 2,645,308 – 2,645,308
Deferred tax liability b, g 36,059 130,884 166,943
Retirement benefit obligations c – 423 423
Total non-current liabilities excluding 
security holder units and minority 
interest classified as debt 2,688,442 131,307 2,819,749
Total liabilities excluding security holder 
units and minority interest classified as debt 2,803,708 131,307 2,935,015
Net assets excluding security holder 
units and minority interest classified as 
debt attributable to unitholders 502,833 (27,253) 475,580
Non-current liability attributable to 
unitholders and minority interests
Security holder units – – –
Minority interests units – – –
Total non-current liability attributable 
to unitholders and minority interests – – –
Unitholders Funds
Contributed unitholders funds 443,826 – 443,826
Undistributed operating deficit a, f, i, j (5,387) (26,112) (31,499)
Total shareholders’ interest 438,439 (26,112) (412,327)
Minority interests i 64,394 (1,141) 63,253
Total unitholders funds 502,833 (27,253) (475,580)
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Note 8. Impact of Adopting Australian Equivalents to IFRS continued

(B) Reconciliation of Equity Reported Under Previous GAAP to Equity Under IFRS continued
(ii) At the end of the last reporting period under previous GAAP – 30 June 2005

DUET 1 GROUP
Effect of 

transition 
Previous GAAP to IFRS IFRS

Note ’000 ’000 ’000

Current assets
Cash 188,343 – 188,343
Receivables 62,996 – 62,996
Inventories 11,415 – 11,415
Other assets 76,776 – 76,776
Total current assets 339,530 – 339,530
Non-current assets
Receivables 79,882 – 79,882
Other financial assets – – –
Investment in associated entities 
using equity accounting method i, j 45,336 (21,862) 23,474
Property, plant and equipment e 3,376,070 (39,838) 3,336,232
Intangible assets a, b, e, g 1,833,720 181,432 2,015,152
Deferred tax assets 15,014 – 15,014
Other assets c, f 42,857 6,419 49,276
Total non-current assets 5,392,879 126,151 5,519,030
Total assets 5,732,409 126,151 5,858,560
Current liabilities
Payables 161,402 – 161,402
Distribution and dividend payable 35,868 – 35,868
Interest bearing liabilities 22,750 – 22,750
Provisions 7,734 – 7,734
Other liabilities 10,411 – 10,411
Total current liabilities 238,165 – 238,165
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 16,498 – 16,498
Interest bearing liabilities 4,091,488 – 4,091,488
Deferred tax liability b, g 391,629 127,850 519,479
Retirement benefit obligations – 6,789 6,789
Other liabilities c 10,129 – 10,129
Total non-current liabilities excluding 
security holder units and minority 
interest classified as debt 4,509,744 134,639 4,644,383
Total liabilities excluding security holder 
units and minority interest classified as debt 4,747,909 134,639 4,882,548
Net assets excluding security holder 
units and minority interest classified as 
debt attributable to unitholders 984,500 (8,488) 976,012
Non-current liability attributable to 
unitholders and minority interests
Security holder units – – –
Minority interests units – – –
Total non-current liability attributable to 
unitholders and minority interests – – –
Unitholders Funds
Contributed unitholders funds 910,822 – 910,822
Reserves – – –
Undistributed operating deficit f, i, a, g (37,082) (9,124) (46,206)
Total shareholders’ interest 873,740 (9,124) 864,616
Minority interests i 110,760 636 111,396
Total unitholders funds 984,500 (8,488) 976,012
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(iii) Reconciliation of profit for the year ended 30 June 2005
DUET 1 GROUP

Effect of 
transition 

Previous GAAP to IFRS IFRS
Note ’000 ’000 ’000

Revenue from continuing activities 772,018 – 772,018
Share of net profits of associates 
accounted for using the equity method i 4,181 847 5,028
Operating expenses d (263,466) (864) (264,330)
Depreciation and amortisation expense a, f (153,412) 24,250 (129,162)
Other expenses
Finance costs excluding costs attributable 
to unitholders and minority interests (268,780) – (268,780)
Total expenses from continuing activities (685,658) 23,386 (662,272)
Net profit from continuing activities before 
income tax expense and finance costs 
attributable to unitholders and 
minority interests 90,541 24,233 114,774
Income tax expense g (19,569) (5,467) (25,036)
Net profit from continuing activities after 
income tax expense and before finance 
costs attributable to unitholders and 
minority interests 70,972 18,766 89,738
Finance costs attributable to DUET 
unitholders – – –
Finance costs attributable to minority 
interests – – –
Changes in net assets from continuing 
activities after income tax expense and 
finance costs attributable to unitholders 
and minority interests 70,972 18,766 89,738
Net profit attributable to minority interests i (11,254) (1,777) (13,031)
Changes in net assets attributable to 
unitholders 59,718 16,989 76,707
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Note 8. Impact of Adopting Australian
Equivalents to IFRS continued

(C) Reconciliation of Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 30 June 2005
The adoption of AIFRS has not resulted in any
material adjustments to the Cash Flow Statement.

(D) Adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139 on
1 July 2005
(a) Derivative financial instruments
DUET Group have applied previous AGAAP in the
comparative information on financial instruments
within the scope of AASB 132 and AASB 139. The
adjustments on 1 July 2005 reflect the recognition
at fair value of the interest rate swaps entered into
by MGH, UEDH and DBP to hedge the interest rate
exposure on their floating rate debt. Where hedge
accounting has been applied and is considered 
to be effective, the fair value adjustments are
recognised in equity as a reserve. Where the hedge
is not effective, the fair value adjustments are
recognised in the income statement in the period
when they arise. The effect of this change on 
1 July 2005 is:

For DUET, derivative financial instruments assets
increase by $11,881,000, derivative financial
instrument liabilities increase by $113,435,000
deferred tax liabilities increased by $6,186,000,
deferred tax liabilities increased by $4,228,000 and
reserves decreased by $9,040,000. For DUET 1
and DUET 2, investment in associated entity using
equity accounting method decreased by
$3,614,000. $452,000 represents the recognition 
of an effective hedge in other assets and payables.

(b) Capitalised finance costs
Under previous AGAAP, finance costs incurred
when arranging borrowings were recognised as an
asset on the balance sheet and amortised over the
life of the borrowing facility. Under AASB 139, such
costs are offset against the borrowings to which
they relate in the balance sheet and amortised over
the terms of those borrowings on an effective yield
basis. The effect of this change on 1 July 2005 is:

For DUET, non-current other assets is reduced 
by $39,824,000 and non-current interest bearing
liabilities reduced by $39,824,000. For DUET 1 
and DUET 2, non-current other assets is reduced
by $3,380,000 and non-current interest bearing
liabilities reduced by $3,380,000.

(c) Unitholders funds – classified as liabilities
Due to the finite life and present entitlement clauses
contained with the DUET and DBNGP Trust
Constitutions, upon adoption of AASB 132 on
1 July 2005, the units in DUET Trusts and DBNGP
Trust were classified as debt for accounting
purposes. As a result the income/loss which
accrued to the units in the Trusts has been
accounted for as an expense/income and
presented in the income statement for the period
as a finance cost/income to unitholders in
accordance with AASB 132.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Year ended 30 June 2006
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DUET 1 GROUP
Effect of 

adoption of
IFRS AASB 132 IFRS

30 June 2005 and AASB 139 1 July 2005
Note ’000 ’000 ’000

Current assets
Cash 188,343 – 188,343
Receivables 62,996 – 62,996
Inventories 11,415 – 11,415
Other assets 76,776 – 76,776
Derivative financial instruments a – 11,881 11,881
Total current assets 339,530 11,881 351,411
Non-current assets
Receivables 79,882 – 79,882
Other financial assets – – –
Investment in associated entities 
using equity accounting method a 23,474 – 23,474
Property, plant and equipment 3,336,232 – 3,336,232
Intangible assets 2,015,152 – 2,015,152
Deferred tax assets a 15,014 6,186 21,200
Other assets b, a 49,276 (39,372) 9,904
Total non-current assets 5,519,030 (33,186) 5,485,844
Total assets 5,858,560 (21,305) 5,837,255
Current liabilities
Payables a 161,402 (452) 160,950
Distribution and dividend payable 35,868 – 35,868
Accrued expenses 22,750 – 22,750
Provisions 7,734 – 7,734
Other liabilities 10,411 – 10,411
Derivative financial instruments a – 113,435 113,435
Total current liabilities 238,165 112,983 351,148
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 16,498 – 16,498
Interest bearing liabilities a 4,091,488 (133,851) 3,957,637
Deferred tax liability a 519,479 4,228 523,707
Retirement benefit obligations 6,789 – 6,789
Other liabilities 10,129 – 10,129
Total non-current liabilities excluding 
security holder units and minority interest 
classified as debt 4,644,383 (129,623) 4,514,760
Total liabilities excluding security holder 
units and minority interest classified as debt 4,882,548 (16,640) 4,565,908
Net assets excluding security holder 
units and minority interest classified 
as debt attributable to unitholders 976,012 (4,665) 971,347
Non-current liability attributable to 
unitholders and minority interests
Security holder units c – 868,158 868,158
Minority interests units c – 52,364 52,364
Total non-current liability attributable to 
unitholders and minority interests – 920,522 920,522
Unitholders Funds
Contributed unitholders funds c 910,822 (910,822) –
Reserves a – (9,040) (9,040)
Undistributed operating deficit c (46,206) (46,206) –
Total shareholders’ interest 864,616 (873,656) (9,040)
Minority interests 111,396 (51,531) 59,865
Total unitholders funds 976,012 (925,187) 50,825
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Note 9. Segment Information

–Segment products and locations
The consolidated entity’s operating companies are
organised and managed separately according to
the nature of the products and services they
provide, with each segment offering different
products and serving different markets. The gas
distribution segment operates in Victoria and
Western Australia and the electricity distribution
segment operates in Victoria.

–Geographic segment
The consolidated entity operates predominately in
one geographical segment being Australia.

Accordingly, no geographical segment information
is presented.

–Segment accounting policies
The Group generally accounts for intersegment
sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were
to third parties at current market prices. 

The principal activity of the DUET Group, DUET 1
and DUET 2 is investment in energy utility assets.
The primary basis of segment reporting is
business. At the date of this report DUET has
investments in the gas distribution, gas
transmission and electricity distribution segments.

Gas Gas Electricity Eliminations/
Transmission Distribution Distribution unallocated Consolidated

2006 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Business Segments
Revenue
Sales to external customers 206,564 159,298 403,931 230 770,023
Other revenues from external 
customers 15,328 11,985 4,733 – 32,046
Share of net profit of equity 
accounted investments – 5,686 – – 5,686
Total segment revenue 221,892 176,969 408,664 230 807,755
Non-segment revenues
Interest revenue 17,723
Unallocated revenue –
Total DUET Group revenue 825,478
Results
Segment result* 123,698 85,018 183,480 (2,517) 389,679
Non-segment expenses

Finance costs excluding costs 
attributable to security holders (301,955)

Unallocated expenses
Net profit from continuing activities 
before income tax expense and 
finance costs attributable to security 
holders and minority interests 87,724
Income tax expense (19,627)
Net profit from continuing activities 
after income tax expense and before 
finance costs attributable to security 
holders and minority interests 68,097
Assets
Segment assets 2,741,615 1,283,084 2,065,780 209,818 6,300,296
Liabilities
Segment liabilities (555,344) (156,186) (242,180) (2,087) (955,797)
Non-segment liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities (4,274,769)
Total liabilities excluding minority 
interest classified as debt (5,230,566)
Other segment information
Acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets and 
other non-current assets 348,255 56,299 107,274 40 511,868
Depreciation 32,396 24,823 53,188 (201) 110,205
Amortisation 794 9,916 14,733 – 25,443
Equity investment in segment assets – 27,078 – – 27,078

* Segment results refer to earnings before finance costs and tax expense.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Year ended 30 June 2006
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Gas Gas Electricity Eliminations/
Transmission Distribution Distribution unallocated Consolidated

2005 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Business Segments
Revenue
Sales to external customers 177,765 157,176 419,968 (497) 754,412
Other revenues from external 
customers 57 2,261 1,191 – 3,509
Share of net profit of equity 
accounted investments – 5,028 – – 5,028
Total segment revenue 177,822 164,465 421,159 (497) 762,949
Non-segment revenues
Interest revenue 13,802
Unallocated revenue 295
Total DUET Group revenue 777,046
Results
Segment result* 116,521 78,519 184,827 11,528 391,395
Non-segment expenses

Finance costs excluding costs 
attributable to security holders (268,780)

Unallocated expenses (7,841)
Net profit from continuing activities 
before income tax expense and 
finance costs attributable to security 
holders and minority interests 114,774
Income tax expense (25,036)
Net profit from continuing activities 
after income tax expense and before 
finance costs attributable to security 
holders and minority interests 89,738
Assets
Segment assets 2,334,626 1,265,481 2,040,094 218,359 5,858,560
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 436,334 130,527 174,251 49,948 791,060
Non-segment liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities 4,091,488
Total liabilities excluding minority 
interest classified as debt 4,882,548
Other segment information
Acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets and 
other non-current assets 24,677 39,513 101,139 425 165,754
Depreciation 21,548 24,339 59,908 (240) 102,555
Amortisation 816 8,678 17,115 (2) 726,607
Equity investment in segment assets – 23,474 – – 23,474

* Segment results refer to earnings before finance costs and tax expense.

Note 10. Full Financial Report

Further financial information can be obtained from the full financial report which is available, free of
charge, on request from the DUET Group. A copy may also be requested by calling Computershare on
1800 009 874.
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Statement by the Directors of the Responsible Entities
On the financial report of the Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No. 1

In the opinion of the directors of AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management No. 1 Limited as the
Responsible Entity for Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No. 1 and the directors of AMPCI Macquarie
Infrastructure Management No. 2 Limited as the Responsible Entity for Diversified Utility and Energy Trust
No. 2, together known as the Responsible Entities, the combined consolidated concise financial
statements for Diversified Utility and Energy Trust (as defined in Note 1(b)), set out on page 62 complies
with AASB 1039 Concise Reports.

The financial statements and specific disclosures included in this concise financial report have been
derived from the full financial report for the year ended 30 June 2006.

The concise financial report cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial
performance, financial position and financing and investing activities of Diversified Utility and Energy
Trusts as the full financial report which, as indicated in Note 10, is available on request.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors of AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management
No. 1 Limited.

Philip Garling
Director

Sydney
28 August 2006

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors 
of AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management No. 2 Limited.

John Roberts
Director

Sydney
28 August 2006



Independent Audit Report
to the unitholders of Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No. 1 and Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No. 2
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Scope
The concise financial report and directors’ responsibility
The concise financial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in
equity, cash flow statement, accompanying notes to the financial statements and the directors’ declaration
for the stapled entity comprising Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No. 1, Diversified Utility and Energy Trust
No. 2 (the “Trusts”) and Diversified Utility and Energy Trusts (the “DUET Group”), for the year ended 30 June
2006. The DUET Group comprises both the Trusts and the entities it controlled during that year.

The directors of the responsible entities of the Trusts are responsible for preparing a concise financial report
that complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports, in accordance with the
Trust deed and the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate
accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for 
the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the concise financial report.

Audit approach
We conducted an independent audit on the concise financial report in order to express an opinion to the
unitholders of the Trusts. Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards in order
to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the concise financial report is free of material misstatement.
The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective testing,
the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence.
Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the concise financial report is
presented fairly in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

–Examining, on a test basis, the information to provide evidence supporting that the amounts and disclosures
in the concise financial report are consistent with the full financial report; and

–Examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts, discussion and
analysis, and other disclosures in the concise financial report that were not directly derived from the full
financial report.

We have also performed an independent audit of the full financial report of the DUET Group for the year
ended 30 June 2006. Our audit report on the full financial report was signed on 28 August 2006, and was 
not subject to any qualification. For a better understanding of our approach to the audit of the full financial
report, this report should be read in conjunction with our audit report on the full financial report.

Independence
We are independent of the Trusts and have met the independence requirements of Australian professional
ethical pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001. We have given to the directors of the responsible
entities of the Trusts a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, signed on 28 August 2006, a copy of
which is included in the Directors’ Report. In addition to our audit of the full and concise financial reports, 
we were engaged to undertake the services disclosed in the notes to the financial statements of the full
financial report. The provision of these services has not impaired our independence.

Audit opinion
In our opinion:

1. the concise financial report of Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No. 1, Diversified Utility and
Energy Trust No. 2 and the DUET Group complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise
Financial Reports.

Ernst & Young

Michael S Perry
Partner

Melbourne
28 August 2006
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Remuneration Report

DUET is not required to provide a remuneration report. However the following information 
on remuneration is provided in the interests of corporate governance.

Directors
No director of the responsible entities is remunerated by DUET. The independent directors of the
responsible entities received fees of A$60,000 for the financial year ended 30 June 2006 for acting 
as directors.

In the case of the Macquarie and AMPCH executive directors, remuneration earned in connection with
their roles as directors on the boards of the responsible entities are paid by Macquarie and AMPCH
respectively.

The fees paid to the independent and non-executive directors of the responsible entities are determined
by reference to current market rates for directorships. The level of fees is not related to the performance 
of DUET.

None of the independent and non-executive directors of the responsible entities are entitled to 
DUET options or securities or to retirement benefits as part of their remuneration package.

Executives
The responsible entities make available employees to discharge their duties to DUET.

The CEO of DUET is subject to profit share arrangements that apply to Macquarie Bank Limited’s
executive directors. In accordance with these arrangements, 20% of Mr Barry’s profit share amounts each
year are withheld and subject to restrictions. These retained profit share amounts vest after between five
and ten years.

In order to better align the interests of management with security holders, from 2006 onwards Mr Barry’s
retained profit share amounts will be invested by Macquarie Bank Limited in DUET securities.

Management fees
The responsible entities are entitled to base and performance fees for acting as responsible entity 
to DUET.

Base fees are calculated quarterly, with reference to the average market capitalisation of DUET over 
the last ten trading days of the quarter. Base fees of $10.6 million were paid or payable by DUET to the
responsible entities for the financial year ended 30 June 2006.

Performance fees are calculated six monthly, with reference to the performance of the accumulated
security price of DUET compared with the performance of the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials Accumulation
Index. Performance fees of $8.8 million were paid by DUET to the responsible entities for the financial year
ended 30 June 2006.



Security Holder Information
As at 28 August 2006
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Distribution of stapled securities
Total stapled % of issued

Investor ranges Holders securities capital

1 – 1,000 542 320,072 0.06
1,001 – 5,000 5,744 19,474,914 3.95
5,001 – 10,000 5,385 40,916,002 8.29
10,001 – 100,000 4,906 106,541,988 21.59
100,001 – Maximum 201 326,326,655 66.11
Total 16,778 493,579,631 100.00

Investors with less than the minimum marketable parcel of stapled securities: 87

Twenty largest investors
% of 

Number issued
Rank Investor of units capital

1 AMP Life Limited 82,900,683 16.80
2 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 32,176,836 6.52
3 National Nominees Limited 22,797,827 4.62
4 JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 21,168,002 4.29
5 Macquarie Specialised Asset Management Ltd 17,592,000 3.56
6 Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 14,133,979 2.86
7 Questor Financial Services Limited 13,923,642 2.82
8 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 12,349,380 2.50
9 ANZ Nominees Limited 11,518,710 2.33
10 Belike Nominees Pty Limited 8,090,153 1.64
11 Macquarie Bank Limited 7,403,223 1.50
12 Australian Executor Trustees Limited 4,827,895 0.98
13 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 2,658,557 0.54
14 UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 2,300,331 0.47
15 Queensland Investment Corporation 2,265,216 0.46
16 RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 2,121,321 0.43
17 Argo Investments Limited 2,000,000 0.41
18 Mrs Shemara Wikramanayake 1,842,987 0.37
19 Cambooya Pty Limited 1,818,476 0.37
20 Westpac Financial Services Limited 1,784,630 0.36
Total for top 20 holders of stapled securities 265,673,848 53.83

Details of substantial stapled security holders
Number of % of issued

stapled stapled 
Investor securities securities

AMP Limited 118,906,339 24.24%
Macquarie Bank Limited 40,297,761 8.21%



Glossary $, A$ or cents Australian dollars or cents, as the case may be
Access arrangement An arrangement for access by the owner or operator of a pipeline which 

is covered by the National Gas Code that has been approved by the 
relevant regulator

AER Australian Energy Regulator Authority Act 2003
Alcoa Alcoa of Australia Limited (ACN 004 879 298) trading as Alcoa World 

Alumina Australia
Alinta Alinta Limited (ABN 40 087 857 001)
AlintaGas Networks or AGN AlintaGas Networks Pty Limited (ABN 90 089 531 975)
Alinta Networks Group or AGN Group ANH and each of its subsidiaries
AMP AMP Limited (ABN 49 079 354 519)
AMPCH AMP Capital Holdings Limited (ABN 69 078 651 966)
AMPCI AMP Capital Investors Limited (ABN 59 001 777 591)
AMP Group AMP and each of its subsidiaries
ANH Alinta Network Holdings Pty Limited (ABN 63 104 788 123)
ANS Alinta Network Services Pty Limited (ABN 52 104 352 650)
ASIC Australian Securities and Investments Commission
Asset utilisation A measure of how well the pipeline is being utilised, taking into account 

the operational characteristics of the pipeline
ASX Australian Stock Exchange Limited (ABN 98 008 624 691)
ASX listing rules The official listing rules of ASX and other rules of ASX which are applicable 

to listed entities, each as amended or replaced from time to time, except to
the extent of any expressed or written waiver by ASX

Back-haul A gas transportation service on the DBNGP where the inlet point is
downstream of the outlet point

Board The board of Directors of either or both of RE1, RE2 and DIHL as the context 
may dictate

CAIDI Customer average interruption duration index
Corporations Act Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)
CPI Consumer price index
Dampier Bunbury Pipeline or DBP The trading name for the group of companies which operate the DBNGP
Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas The natural gas transmission pipeline which runs from the north-west Shelf
Pipeline or DBNGP to Bunbury and is run by DBP
DBNGP Consortium The Consortium comprising DUET, Alinta and Alcoa
DBNGP Trust The trust bearing that name constituted by the deed entitled “Trust Deed —

DBNGP Trust” executed by DBNGP Holdings dated 6 September 2004
DBP Group The DBNGP Trust and all its underlying subsidiaries
DIHL DUET Investment Holdings Limited (ACN 120 456 573)
Directors Directors of RE1, RE2 or DIHL as the context may dictate
DUET 1 Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No 1 Limited (ARSN 109 363 037), a trust

formed under the DUET 1 Constitution of which RE1 is the responsible entity
DUET 2 Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No 2 Limited (ARSN 109 363 135), a trust

formed under the DUET 2 Constitution of which RE2 is the responsible entity
DUET Constitutions Collectively, the DUET 1 Constitution and the DUET 2 Constitution
DUET Group Collectively, DUET 1, DUET 2 and DIHL
DUET Parent DUET 1 and DUET 2 together
EBIT Earnings before interest and tax
EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation (including abandonments) 

and amortisation
EDPR Electricity Distribution Price Review
ERA Economic Regulatory Authority established under the Economic Regulation

Authority Act 2003
ESC Essential Services Commission (Victoria) established under the Essential

Services Commission Act 2001
Financial Services Agreements The agreements between AMPCI (on the one hand) and each of UEDH and

MGH (on the other hand) dated 14 July 2003, under which AMP Capital
provides certain financial services to these entities

FOLAs The agreements known as First Onlending Agreements between the
POWERS RE1 and RE2 (as amended), under which the proceeds received on
issue of POWERS (less certain fees and transaction costs) were lent to
DUET 1 and DUET 2

Full-haul A gas transportation service on the DBNGP for deliveries of gas downstream
of Compressor Station 9 on the DBNGP, but does not include back-haul

GasNet GasNet Australia Group
GDS Gas distribution system
GJ Gigajoule
GWh Gigawatt hour
LNG Liquid Natural Gas
LPG Liquefied Petroleum Gas
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Macquarie Macquarie Bank Limited (ACN 008 583 542)
Macquarie Group Macquarie and each of its related bodies corporate
MAIFI Momentary average interruption frequency index
Management Services Agreement The agreements between PIES and each of ANH, MGH and UEDH 

under which PIES provides management services to these entities’
respective groups

MAOP Pipeline maximum allowable operating pressure 
MCE Ministerial Council on Energy 
MGH Multinet Group Holdings Pty Limited (ABN 83 104 036 937)
Multinet MultinetGas (DB No. 1) Pty Limited (ABN 66 086 026 986) and MultinetGas

(DB No. 2) Pty Limited (ABN 57 086 230 112) trading as the Multinet Gas
Distribution Partnership

Multinet Group MGH and each of its subsidiaries
MW Megawatt
National Gas Code or NGC The National Third Party Access Code for Natural Gas Pipeline Systems
OECD The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
Operating Services Agreements or OSA The agreements between ANS (on the one hand) and each of UEDH, MGH

and ANH (on the other hand, amongst others) in terms of which ANS agrees
to provide comprehensive management services to the aforesaid entities and
in the context of DBNGP, the Operating Services Agreement between DBP
Group and ANS dated 27 October 2004

Part-haul A gas transportation service on the DBNGP for deliveries of gas upstream 
of Compressor Station 9 on the DBNGP, but does not include back-haul

PC Productivity Commission 
Performance fee The performance fee, as described in Section 6.6
PIES Pacific Indian Energy Services Pty Limited (ACN 105 508 843)
PJ Petajoule
POWERS Preferred, cumulative, exchangeable, redeemable reset units in the POWERS

Trust issued by the POWERS RE
POWERS holder Any person recorded in the register as the holder of POWERS
POWERS RE AMPCI, in its capacity as the responsible entity of the POWERS Trust
POWERS Trust POWERS Trust (ARSN 105 094 442), a registered managed investment

scheme established under the POWERS Trust Constitution of which AMPCI
is the responsible entity

Proforma Financial information from prior to DUET’s listing on ASX which has 
been normalised

RE1 AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management No. 1 Limited 
(ABN 99 108013 672)

RE2 AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management No. 2 Limited 
(ABN 15 108014 062)

Reference tariff The tariff determined for reference services by the relevant regulator from 
time to time

Registry Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited (ABN 48 078 279 277) 
or any other person providing registry services to DUET from time to time

SAIDI System average interruption duration index
SAIFI System average interruption frequency 
Senior debt Debt provided under the Initial Assets Senior Debt Facilities and the DBNGP

Senior Debt Facilities
Senior lenders The lenders under the Initial Assets Senior Debt Facilities and/or the DBNGP

Senior Debt Facilities (as applicable)
SOLAs Subordinated loan agreements known as Second Onlending Agreements

between the Issuers (as lenders) and the Asset Holding Entities (as
borrowers), as amended

Stapled securities Units in DUET 1, DUET 2 and shares in DIHL which are stapled together
(from 31 August 2006) so that one may not be transferred, or otherwise dealt
with, without the other or others and which are quoted on ASX jointly as a
‘stapled security’, and are registered in the name of a person

Stapled security holders Holder of a stapled security
Stapled security Units in DUET 1 and DUET 2 up to 31 August 2006
T1 Tranche 1 full-haul 
TUOS Transmission Use of System
UED United Energy Distribution Pty Limited (ABN 70 064 651 029), the changed

name of United Energy Limited
UED Group UEDH and each of its subsidiaries
UEDH United Energy Distribution Holdings Pty Limited (ACN 104 381 660)



Directory

Directors of the responsible entities
The RE1 board of directors is comprised as follows:

Name and Position Executive/Independent

Philip Garling Executive 
Chairman (appointed by AMPCI)

John Roberts Executive 
Director (appointed by Macquarie)

Hon. Michael Lee
Director Independent

Doug Halley
Director Independent

Emma Stein
Director Independent

Secretary of RE1
Christine Williams

The RE2 board of directors is comprised as follows:

Name and Position Executive/Independent

Philip Garling Executive 
Chairman (appointed by AMPCI)

John Roberts Executive 
Director (appointed by Macquarie)

Ron Finlay
Director Independent

Eric Goodwin
Director Independent

Duncan Sutherland
Director Independent

Secretary of RE2
Christine Williams

The DIHL board of directors is comprised as follows:

Name and Position Executive/Independent

Philip Garling Executive 
Chairman (appointed by RE2)

John Roberts Executive 
Director (appointed by RE1)

Doug Halley Independent
Director (appointed by RE2)

Emma Stein Independent
Director (appointed by RE1)

Ron Finlay Independent
Director (appointed by RE1 and RE2)

Secretary of DIHL
Christine Williams

Responsible entities 

of the DUET Group

Responsible entity of 

DUET 1 and manager of DIHL

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 1 Limited
(ABN 99 108 013 672) (RE1) 

Responsible entity of DUET 2

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 2 Limited
(ABN 15 108 014 062) (RE2)

Level 7, 1 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000 
or
PO Box 4294
Sydney NSW 1164 

Registry

Computershare 
Investor Services 
Pty Limited
GPO Box 7115
Sydney NSW 2001
or
Level 3
60 Carrington Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Telephone: 
+ 61 2 9415 4189
or 1800 009 874

Facsimile:
+61 3 9473 2500

Investor relations 

of the DUET Group 

Level 7
1 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
or
PO Box 4294
Sydney NSW 1164

Telephone:
Within Australia: 
1800 005 049
Outside Australia: 
+61 2 8232 4491

Facsimile:
+61 2 8232 4713

Website:
www.duet.net.au 
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The DUET Group comprises Diversified
Utility and Energy Trust No. 1
(ARSN 109 363 037) (DUET 1),
Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No. 2
(ARSN 109 363 135) (DUET 2) and
DUET Investment Holdings Limited (DIHL).
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No. 1 Limited
(ABN 99 108 013 672) (RE1) is the
Responsible Entity of DUET 1 and AMPCI
Macquarie Infrastructure Management
No. 2 Limited (ABN 15 108 014 062) (RE2)
is the Responsible Entity for DUET 2. RE1
is the manager of DIHL. RE1 and RE2 are
jointly owned by AMP Capital Holdings
Limited (ABN 69 078 651 966) (AMPCH),
a wholly owned subsidiary of AMP Limited,
and Macquarie Bank Limited
(ABN 46 008 583 542) (Macquarie).

Stapling
In accordance with its requirements in
respect of stapled securities, ASX reserves
the right (but without limiting its absolute
discretion) to remove DUET 1, DUET 2
and DIHL, or all three, from the official list
of ASX if any of the securities in DUET 1,
DUET 2 or DIHL cease to be stapled
together or any equity securities are issued
by DUET 1, DUET 2, or DIHL which are not
stapled to equivalent securities in other
entities, other than the A, B and C special
shares or redeemable preference shares
(as those terms are defined in the DIHL
constitution).  

Takeover provisions 
DUET 1, DUET 2 and DIHL are subject to
the takeover provisions of Chapters 6, 6A,
6B and 6C of the Corporations Act and
the takeover provisions will apply to the
holders of DUET stapled securities.

Performance disclaimer
Investments in DUET are not deposits with
or other liabilities of Macquarie Bank
Limited or AMPCH, or any entity in the
Macquarie Bank Group (Macquarie Group)
or the AMP Group and are subject to
investment risk, including possible delays
in repayment and loss of income and
capital invested. Neither RE1, RE2, DIHL,
nor any member of the Macquarie Bank
Group or the AMP Group, guarantees the
performance of DUET, the repayment of
capital or the payment of a particular rate
of return on DUET stapled securities.

Advice warning
This annual report is not an offer or invitation
for subscription or purchase of or a
recommendation of securities. It does not
take into account the investment objectives,
financial situation and particular needs of
the investor. Before making an investment
in DUET, the investor or prospective investor
should consider whether such an
investment is appropriate to their particular
investment needs, objectives and financial
circumstances and consult an investment
adviser if necessary.

Manager fees
RE1 in its capacity as responsible entity
of DUET 1 and manager of DIHL, and RE2
in its capacity as responsible entity of
DUET 2, are entitled to fees for so acting.
Entities within the Macquarie Group RE1
and RE2, their officers and directors may
hold stapled securities in DUET from time
to time.

Financial report
The DUET consolidated financial report has
been  prepared to enable RE1 and RE2 as
Responsible Entities to comply with their
obligations under the Corporations Act and
to ensure compliance with the ASX Listing
Rules and satisfy the requirements of the
Australian accounting standards in relation
to stapled structures. The responsibility for
preparation of the concise financial report
and any financial information contained in
this annual report rests solely with the
directors of RE1 and RE2.

Complaints handling
A formal complaints handling procedure
is in place for DUET. RE1 and RE2 are
members of the Financial Industry
Complaints Scheme. Complaints should
in the first instance be directed to RE1
and RE2. If you have any enquiries
or complaints, please contact:

Financial Industry Complaints Service
PO Box 579
Collins Street West
Melbourne 8007

Telephone: 1300 78 08 08
Website: www.fics.asn.au

DUET’s ongoing commitment
to your privacy
We understand the importance you
place on your privacy and are committed
to protecting and maintaining the
confidentiality of the personal information
you provide to us. DUET has adopted a
privacy policy. For further information,
visit the DUET website at www.duet.net.au
or contact DUET Investor Relations
on 1800 005 049 or outside Australia
on +61 2 8232 4491.

Responsible entities
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No.1 Limited (ABN 99 108
013 672) (RE1) as responsible entity of
Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No. 1
(DUET 1)
and
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure
Management No.2 Limited (ABN 15 108
014 062) (RE2) as responsible entity of
Diversified Utility and Energy Trust No. 2
(DUET 2)

Level 7
1 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000
or
PO Box 4294
Sydney NSW 1164

Telephone: +61 2 8232 4491 
or 1800 005 049 
Fax: +61 2 8232 4713 
Website: www.duet.net.au 

Disclaimer




